WILL CLIMATE CHANGE ALTER ARCTIC NITROGEN BUDGETS? IMPACTS OF WARMING AND FERTILIZATION ON NITROGEN FIXING MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES AT ALEXANDRA FIORD, ELLESMERE ISLAND, NUNAVUT

by

Julie R. Deslippe

B.Sc., University of Victoria, 2000

THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE

(BIOLOGY)

THE UNIVERSITY OF NORTHERN BRITISH COLUMBIA

April 2004

©Julie R. Deslippe, 2004



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 0-494-04670-8 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 0-494-04670-8

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

ABSTRACT

The impacts of simulated climate change (warming and fertilization treatments) on diazotroph community structure and activity were investigated at Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Canada. Open Top Chambers were randomly placed in a dwarf-shrub, cushion-plant dominated mesic tundra site in1995. In 2000 and 2001 20N: 20P₂O₅: $20K_2O$ fertilizer was applied at a rate of 5 g m⁻²year⁻¹. Estimates of nitrogen fixation rates were made in the field by Acetylene Reduction Assays (ARA). Higher rates of N-fixation were observed 19-35 days post-fertilization but were otherwise unaffected by treatments and we hypothesize that microsite variation was a greater determinant of N-fixation rate than were the treatments applied. NifH genes were amplified from bulk soil DNA and analyzed by Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP) analysis. Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMS) was used to ordinate treatment plots in nifH genotype space. NifH gene communities were more strongly structured by warming treatment late in the growing season, suggesting that an annual succession in diazotroph community composition occurs. δ^{15} N analysis of plant and soil material from each treatment plot suggests that evergreen dwarf shrubs will depend more heavily on organic-N derived from mycorrhizae in warmer climates and that relative importance of symbiotic nitrogen fixation to the N-nutrition of D. integrifolia will decline at this site.

ii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract	ii
Table of Contents	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Figures	vi
Acknowledgements	vii
1. Literature Review	
1.1. Soil Microbial Ecology; a historical perspective	1
2.1. Ecology and nutrient cycling in natural systems	2
2.2. Arctic soils are nitrogen limited	3
2.3. Global warming will affect arctic nitrogen budgets	4
3.1. Diazotrophs	6
3.2. Diazotrophs in arctic soils	6
3.3. Limitations to nitrogen fixation in arctic soils	7
3.4. Free-living diazotrophs at home: the mycorhizosphere	8
4.1. NifH can be used to detect diazotrophic communities in nature	10
4.2. Measurements of diazotroph diversity	11
4.3. T-RFLPs in the assessment of microbial diversity	13
5.1. Measurements of nitrogen fixation	14
5.2. ARA	15
5.3. Natural ¹⁵ N isotopes	15
6.1. Studies of community response to simulated climate change	17
7.1. Literature cited	21

2. Will climate change alter arctic nitrogen budgets? Impacts of warming and fertilization on nitrogen fixing microbial communities at Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Nunavut

Introduction	29
Methods	
Site, soils and experimental design	31
Acetylene Reduction Assays	34
DNA extraction and PCR amplification	36

T-RFLP analysis	37
Elemental Analysis and soil moisture content	39
δ^{15} N analysis of plants and soils	39
Results	
Elemental Analysis of plants and soils	40
Acetylene Reduction Assays	43
T-RFLP analysis	44
δ^{15} N analysis	50
Discussion	
Methodological considerations	52
Acetylene Reduction Assays	55
T-RFLP analysis	58
Elemental Analysis of plants and soils	63
δ^{15} N analysis	66
Conclusions	76
Literature cited	79

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Physical and chemical data for the two dominant soil forms at the study site. (Data complied from Muc et al. 1994)	32
Table 2. Mean N and C contents and C: N ratios for OTC and Temporal fertilization experiments from the second sampling period (July 23-August 3) 2002	41
Table 3. Acetylene reduction activity reported for non-brackish, low-land sites in the Canadian high-arctic	56

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure i. A survey of the δ^{15} N values of nitrogen containing compounds in nature (from: Mook and de Vries 1999).	17
Figure 1. Foliar N content of <i>Salix arctica</i> and <i>Dryas integrifolia</i> from warmed and control plots	42
Figure 2. Foliar N contents of <i>Salix arctica</i> and <i>Dryas integrifolia</i> with and without fertilizer amendments	43
Figure 3. Nitrogen fixation rates for OTC and temporal fertilization experiments for the second sampling period (July 23- August 3), 2002	44
Figure 4. NMS plot of treatment and control plots in <i>nif</i> H genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the second sampling period (July 23-August 3), 2002	45
Figure 5. Overlay of nitrogen fixation rates (N mg m ⁻² hr ⁻¹) on an NMS plot of treatments in genotypes space, data collected during the second sampling period (July 23- August 3), 2002	46
Figure 6. NMS plot of treatment and control plots in <i>nif</i> H genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the first sampling period (June 28- July 5), 2002	47
Figure 7. NMS plot of fertilization and control plots in <i>nif</i> H genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the second sampling period (July 16- August 3), 2002	48
Figure 8. NMS plot of treatment and control plots in <i>nif</i> H genotype space. T-RFLP data collected in 2001	49
Figure 9. Correspondence analysis generated plot for disturbance experiment	50
Figure 10. Foliar δ^{15} N values for <i>Salix arctica</i> and <i>Dryas integrifolia</i> with and without OTC treatment	51
Figure 11. Linear relationship for foliar percent N and δ^{15} N values for Salix arctica and Dryas integrifolia	51
Figure 12. Idealized temperature response curves for arctic soil diazotrophs acclimated to maximum daily temperatures of 20°C and 24°C	54

Acknowledgements

Many people have been instrumental in making this project a success, and I am very grateful for their contributions.

In terms of technical support, I'd like to thank the Polar Continental Shelf Project for logistical support in the high arctic; Allen Esler for his help with gas chromatography, Paul Eby and Dr. Michael Whittaker at the University of Victoria for the mass spectroscopy work. Kei Fujimura was a great field assistant in my first summer at Alexandra Fiord. In the lab Sue Gibson helped with some of the DNA extractions, Mandy Kellner and John Kelly helped grind dirt for elemental analysis.

On a personal note; I'd like to thank my committee members Dr. Keith Egger, Dr. Bill McGill, Dr. Darwyn Coxson, and Dr. Greg Henry for providing me the opportunity, encouragement and free reign to pursue my ideas. My friend and colleagues from the EgMa lab; Jen Catherall, Linda Tackaberry, Sue Robertson, Kei Fujimura, and Linda Rehaume, got me through all the quirks and frustrations that are part molecular lab work with smiles, coffee, and baked goods. I'd like to thank the 'noon-time runners' at UNBC, especially Denny Straussfogel for helping me unwind 3 or 4 times a week while discussing global politics and other such topics. I'd like to thank the participants of the Monday morning Dirt Group for helping me to focus and articulate my ideas and for being as keen on dirt as I am. Last but certainly not least I'd like to say a special thank you to Sue Robertson for so many productive conversations over wine; and also to Hinrich Schaefer who encouraged me to come to this great little school in the first place.

Finally, I'd like to acknowledge the National Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada (grant to K. N. Egger) and Northern Scientific Training Program (grant to J. R. Deslippe) for the financial support that made this work possible.

LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Soil Microbial Ecology; a historical perspective

Although the term Soil Microbial Ecology is relatively recent designation, the study has deep roots in the history of science. By the mid-nineteenth century, the founders of modern science were conducting controlled experiments and making detailed observations of microorganisms in their environment, and the discipline originates from these early efforts. The rejection of spontaneous generation and the elucidation of anaerobic metabolism were achieved by the monumental works of Louis Pasteur (1830-1900). Charles Darwin is credited with pioneering quantitative studies on the transportive effect of earthworms on surface soil layers (1837, 1881). The widely credited founder of soil microbiology, Sergei Winogradsky, initiated the first studies of nitrification and sulfur-oxidation which led to the concept of microbial autotrophy. As the studies of microbiology, chemistry and biochemistry matured into the twentieth century, it became apparent that these disciplines were intricately connected in soils and the central role of soil organisms in nutrient cycling was recognized (Paul and Clarke 1996). The elucidation of the nutrient cycles provided a basic framework from which to interpret the processes that determine the distribution of organisms in the environment. Agronomy served as the subject of, and practical application for, most of the knowledge gained in the field. Consequently many of the basic paradigms of the field were uniquely suited to

agricultural systems (for a more extensive review of the history of soil biology see Coleman et al. 1983, Paul and Clarke 1996).

2.1. Ecology and nutrient cycling in natural systems

Much of the groundwork of soil microbial ecology took place in agricultural systems that are highly fertile when compared to natural ecosystems (Chapin 1980, Coleman et al. 1983). In nature, terrestrial biota is often limited by the availability of four key elements C, N, P, and S. The biogeochemical cycles of each of these essential elements are characterized by two pools in soils, a relatively large pool that is bound in organic forms (living and non-living), and a small pool that is present in a highly available (often inorganic) state. The flux between pools is mediated by two main biological processes; mineralization and immobilization. The balance between these processes often determines the potential to accumulate biomass for the organisms in the ecosystem. Biological activity that determines the rate of nutrient mineralization and immobilization exists in an abiotic environment controlled by three basic parameters, soil texture, soil age and regional climate. These abiotic factors strongly influence the interactions of organisms and characterize the nutrient cycling in a system.

Nitrogen is the primary limiting nutrient in many natural terrestrial ecosystems (Dugdale et al. 1967; Paerl et al. 1987; Dawson 1992). With few exceptions, primary producers are not carbon-limited by virtue of their metabolisms. Nitrogen is required in all of the basic

building blocks of life notably; protein, RNA and DNA, and is required in relatively large quantities compared to the other limiting nutrients. Atmospheric N_2 is a huge reservoir of N that is largely unavailable to organisms. The two soil pools interact with the atmospheric reservoir by three biologically mediated processes, nitrification, denitrification, and nitrogen fixation. Nitrification is the microbially-mediated process by which ammonium is oxidized to nitrate for energy directly, or simultaneously with CO_2 reduction. Denitrification is the opposite process, whereby nitrate is reduced during anaerobic respiration (oxidation of CH_2O) to nitrous oxide (N_2O) and dinitrogen, returning N to the atmospheric pool. Nitrogen fixation, the only source of new nitrogen in terrestrial systems, is the process by which atmospheric N_2 is reduced to ammonium.

2.2. Arctic soils are nitrogen limited

Soil ecosystems at high latitudes are characterized by cold and saturated conditions for much of the growing season (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992b). These conditions limit decomposition and thus, the internal recycling of nitrogen by mineralization and nitrification as well as the recruitment of new N by fixation. Depending on the outcome of competitive interactions, available N can be rapidly assimilated by plants, retained in plant tissue, and returned to the soil as litter fall. Conversely, available N will be assimilated into microbial biomass and retained until mineralized once more. Nitrogen leaves soil organic matter by leaching, transport by soil water, denitrification and ammonia volatilization (Shaver et al. 1992). Most of the nitrogen in tundra ecosystems is

held in soils and supply to plants (via mineralization) is a major bottleneck to plant growth (Chapin et al. 1980). Consequently, the productivity of many terrestrial arctic plant communities is strongly nitrogen limited (Ulrich and Gesper 1978; Shaver and Chapin 1980, 1986).

2.3. Global warming will affect arctic nitrogen budgets

Temperature increase as a result of climate change in the arctic is predicted to be 2-5°C over the next century (Houghton et al. 1995, 1996). This is far greater than the global mean increase of 1-3.5°C (Boer et al. 1990). Changes in temperature are predicted to induce widespread change in all of the earth's ecosystems. The responses of arctic ecosystems to climate change are of particular interest because arctic communities have responded disproportionately to past climate transitions, suggesting that future climate change will induce widespread alterations of these systems (Warrick et al. 1986).

Warmer temperatures, a result of an amplified 'greenhouse effect' due to increasing atmospheric CO_2 concentrations, may affect arctic nitrogen cycling by a variety of mechanisms. Directly, warmer temperatures will increase rates of all enzyme-mediated reactions in soils. Secondary effects of warming include the potential alteration of hydrological regimes at regional and local scales. In the arctic, warmer temperatures may be associated with increased rainfall due to decreased albedo as sea ice melts and an increased evaporative load. At local scales, increased evaporation may make dry sites

drier while increased melting of glacial ice may make low lying areas wetter. Increased temperature should also result in an increased depth of thaw of permafrost releasing large stores of organic nitrogen that will be mineralized to ammonium (Shaver et al. 1992). Likewise, increased microbial activity and element turnover, including increased nitrification, is expected (Nadlehoffer et al. 1992). As long as sufficient water is available, many of these affects may feedback positively, resulting in a more rapid turnover of the large soil N-pool, and consequently, a relief of the 'bottleneck effect' of N-mineralization on plant N-nutrition in the short term.

However, since nitrogen fixation is the primary source of new nitrogen in arctic plant communities, variation in its input may be a major regulator of ecosystem productivity in the long term (Chapin and Blesoe 1992a). Climate warming is expected to increase nitrogen fixation rates by a factor of 1.5-2 times current values in the arctic. Increased temperature is expected to have the strongest direct effect on all nitrogen fixing organisms, while increased moisture is expected to be important for certain key photoautotrophic groups (particularly cyanobacteria). Direct effects of increased CO₂ concentrations on the metabolism of photosynthetic nitrogen fixers will also be important in securing this increase (Chapin and Blesoe 1992a). If these predictions prove true, the warmer arctic climates of the future should be less nitrogen limited than they are today.

3.1. Diazotrophs

Organisms that fix atmospheric nitrogen are collectively called diazotrophs. It is believed that nitrogen fixation has been present since the evolution of eukaryotes (Postgate and Eady 1988), and all organisms depend either directly or indirectly on diazotrophs as a source of nitrogen. Diazotrophic organisms are a comprised of a diverse array of prokaryotic phyla from two domains; the eubacteria and the archeabacteria. Members of these two groups employ nearly every life history strategy; there are free living and colonial photoautotrophs, and free living heterotrophs and chemolithoautotrophs (Paerl 1998). Many symbioses exist between diazotrophs and other organisms. Diverse groups of bacteria, such as the actinomycetes and the proteobacteria (eg. *Rhizobium*), form symbiotic associations with plants, while other diazotrophs are endosymbiotic with animals, and may live in the guts of wood-eating termites and pelagic copepods (Zehr et al. 1998).

3.2. Diazotrophs in Arctic Soils

It is widely held that the most important diazotrophs in arctic terrestrial ecosystems are cyanobacteria. Cyanobacteria are photosynthetic surface dwellers with heterocysts that are likely the primary source of newly fixed nitrogen in these systems (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992a). Principle genera include *Nostoc, Anabaena, Scytonema, Stigonema, Hapalosiphon, Tolypothrix*, and *Fischerella* (Alexander 1974; Granhall and Lid-Torsvik

1975). The importance of cyanobacteria that lack heterocysts and fix nitrogen primary in the dark (Liengen 1999) is still unclear as the presence of heterocysts is the only morphological attribute that indicates that an organism has the ability to fix nitrogen.

Another group whose contribution to nitrogen fixation in arctic soils is unclear is the freeliving anaerobic bacteria. This group is often abundant in arctic soils (Stutz 1977) and may be locally important at some sites (Granhall and LidTorsik 1975) but low soil temperatures and low availability of carbon substrates is thought to limit their contribution to the overall nitrogen budget of arctic soils (Jordan et al. 1978).

Dryas integrifolia is common at many high arctic lowland sites and is known to be colonized by actinorhizal bacteria (Henry and Svoboda 1986). Symbiotic nitrogen fixation in plants is, however, believed to be rare in the high arctic (Stutz 1977). Where actinorhizae do exist they likely contribute significantly to the local nitrogen budget. For example, at Sarcpa Lake, NWT the highest rates of N-fixation were observed in habitats densely colonized by legumes and it was concluded that rhizobial symbioses contributed significantly to the N-budget at that site (Karagatzides et al. 1985).

3.3. Limitations to nitrogen fixation in arctic soils

The temperature optimum for nitrogen fixation by arctic diazotrophs has been determined by several authors to be near 20°C (Davey 1983, Chapin et al. 1991, Lennihan et al. 1994,

Liengen and Olsen 1997a, Liengen 1999). Consequently nitrogen fixation is considered to be temperature limited in cold arctic soils. Soil moisture has also been implicated as a strong control on N-fixation (Alexander et al. 1974, Alexander et al. 1978, Chapin et al. 1991). Soil moisture may limit N-fixation at dry sites and buffer soil temperature in wet sites preventing maximum rates. Phosphorus is the primary nutrient limiting N-fixation in most natural systems (Vitousek 1999) and phosphorus limitation of N-fixation in arctic soils is also well documented (Fritz-Sheridan 1988, Chapin et al. 1991, Liengen 1999). Positive correlations between magnesium and calcium concentrations and nitrogen fixation rates of high arctic cyanobacteria have been reported (Liengen and Olsen 1997a, 1997b); however direct limitation of nitrogen fixation by either element has not yet been established. Depending on the physiology of the diazotroph in question, light limitation or carbon limitation may be a factor. Photoautotrophs, particularly cyanobacteria are important in arctic sites and limitation of N-fixation by shading has been reported by some authors (Henry and Svoboda 1986, Liengen 1999). Similarly, chemoheterotrophs may be carbon limited, and increased concentrations of labile-C compounds, either from root exudation, or sucrose amendments have been associated with increased rates of Nfixation in the field (Li et al. 1995, Piceno and Lovell 2000a, 2000b).

3.4. Free-living diazotrophs at home: the mycorhizosphere

The concept of the rhizosphere, the portion of the soil that is influenced by the presence of a root or its exudates, can be expanded to include those areas inhabited by the plant's mycorrhizae. The mycorrhizosphere is inhabited by diverse and dynamic microbial populations (Linderman 1988). Benefits that bacteria may derive from fungi include habitat. For example, the extra-matrical hyphae of arbuscular fungi exude substances that cause mineral and organic fractions of soils to aggregate (Sutton and Sheppard 1976). Within these soil aggregates microorganisms flourish (Forster and Nicholson 1981). Certain bacteria appear to be favored by fungal exudates (Gilbert and Linderman 1971) implying fungal control the development of the bacterial communities in the mycorrhizosphere to some extent.

Diazotrophs are present in the mycorrhizophere. Mycorrhizae may provide the high levels of phosphorus required by diazotrophs (Bowen 1987, Miller 1987). A nitrogen fixing, spore-forming bacteria of the genus *Bacillus* was found to be active in ectomycorrhizal tubercles on Douglas fir (Li et al. 1995). Similarly, some ectomycorrhizae are known to secrete mannitol, a carbohydrate utilized by nitrogenfixing organisms (Hassouma and Wareing 1964). These findings suggest that an active component of the diazotrophic community may be in association with mycorrhizal fungi and that the fungi may be important in the carbohydrate nutrition of mycorrhizosphere diazotrophs.

4.1. NifH can be used to detect diazotrophic communities in nature

Traditional studies of bacteria from soils and the rhizospheres of plants involved culturing colonies on selective media (often nitrogen deficient) followed by cell counts,

DNA extraction, and sequencing techniques (Oyalzu-Masuchi and Komagata 1988). Culturing techniques are considered to be limited in value when studying natural communities of diazotrophs as only a small percentage of prokaryotes in nature can be cultured (Wayne et al. 1987). Further, the act of culturing likely alters community attributes such as species abundance and community structure from natural levels by altering selective conditions (Dunbar et al. 1997). A culture independent approach was clearly desirable for the study of natural diazotrophic communities.

All diazotrophs possess the multimeric enzyme complex nitrogenase. Nitrogenase is a tetramer composed of two identical Fe_4S_4 cluster, and FeMo cluster subunits (Dean and Jacobson 1992) that are highly conserved among all diazotrophic groups (Bothe 1982). The genes that encode the protein subunits are also well conserved; a character that makes them ideal molecular markers (Postgate and Eady 1988).

In diazotrophs, nitrogen is fixed through the action of the enzyme nitrogenase. There are twenty genes that encode for the proteins that compose nitrogenase in the diazotroph *Klebsiella pneumoniae* (Dean and Jacobson 1992). The twenty genes (*nif* genes) are arranged into eight transcriptional units, some of which appear to overlap (Beynon et al. 1988). All *nif* genes are well conserved among diazotrophs (Postgate and Eady 1988), a quality that makes them useful molecular tools for the construction of degenerate oligonucleotide primers. The first degenerate oligonucleotide primers were developed for *nif*H gene sequences of the marine cyanobacterium *Trichodesmium thiebautii* (Zehr and McReynolds 1989). *Nif*H is the gene that encodes for the iron protein subunit of

nitrogenase. Its product forms the homodimer, the basic structure of the enzyme. In conjunction with the polymerase chain reaction, these primers proved to be useful tools for examining diazotrophs from natural communities. Further support for the application of *nif*H as a molecular tool came from the confirmation that *nif*H sequence phylogenies are largely consistent with the widely accepted 16S rRNA phylogeny for diazotrophic microbes (Young 1992).

4.2. Measurements of diazotroph diversity

Genetic diversity in diazotrophs has been assessed by a variety of techniques based on PCR amplification with degenerate *nif*H primers from natural samples. Many studies involve the amplification of *nif*H sequences followed by direct sequencing of the genes (Kirshtein et al. 1991; Ueda et al. 1995; Borneman and Triplett 1997; Jeong and Myrold 2000). However, because of the high cost and time associated with DNA sequencing this method appears to be best suited to the analysis of single or relatively small populations (Dunbar et al. 2000).

When analyzing large populations or when comparing multiple populations of diazotrophs, several techniques have been employed. Probably the simplest technique is RFLP analysis of PCR products. In this method PCR products are digested with restriction enzymes and the resulting fragments are electrophoresed on agarose or polyacrylamide gels. A community profile is represented as a banding pattern on the gel

and these can be compared among samples. Gene richness (the number of bands) and gene evenness (the relative brightness of the bands) have been successfully estimated in this way (Widmer et al. 1999; Shaffer et al. 2000; Poly et al. 2001).

RFLP analysis is not without criticism despite its wide use in the analysis of diazotrophic communities. The most common criticism of the technique is summarized well by Tiedje et al. (1999) in their review of the techniques used in microbial ecology. The authors state that because single base pair substitution can alter the restriction site of a DNA fragment, resulting in the production of two bands but no functional difference in the gene (because of codon degeneracy), RFLP analysis tends to overestimate the genetic diversity of a population. Further, populations of only a few organisms can produce banding patterns that are so complex that they are not interpretable (Liu et al. 1997). These criticisms led Tiedje et al. (1999) to conclude that RFLP analysis is of limited value when used on highly diverse soils composed of non-dominant populations of microbes.

Denaturing Gradient Gel Electrophoresis (DGGE) has been successfully used to measure the diversity of *nif*H fragments in *Paenibacillus azotofixans* strains from soil and rhizosphere samples (Rosado et al. 1998). The technique involves the electrophoresis of double stranded DNA on gels with increasing concentrations of formamide and urea, and is sensitive to single-nucleotide differences. DGGE is considered to be a rapid way to assess intraspecific genetic diversity from environmental samples (Rosado et al. 1998).

4.3. T-RFLPs in the assessment of microbial diversity

Terminal Restriction Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP) is a technique related to RFLP, in that restriction enzymes are used. However, T-RFLP differs from RFLP by the addition of a dye label to the 5' end of the oligonucleotide primer. The dye label allows an automated DNA fragment analyzer to detect the position of the dye-labelled terminal fragment in a polyacrylamide gel. Since only the terminal fragment is visualized, each genotype corresponds to one PCR product. In T-RFLP the DNA fragments are represented quantitatively as peaks on a computer generated graph. The peak area is then integrated to determine the number of terminal DNA fragments it represents. These functions allow for estimates of gene diversity through characterization of sequence evenness and richness. This process is considered a more sensitive quantitative measurement than RFLP (Tiedje et al. 1999).

T-RFLPs have been used in the assessment of *nif*H gene diversity in the guts of termites (Ohkuma et al. 1996, 1999) and the technique holds considerable promise for use in natural soil samples. T-RFLP analysis of microbial diversity by 16S rRNA has been used extensively in soils and aquatic samples (Liu et al. 1997; Clement et al. 1998; Moesender et al. 1999). Further, it was shown that T-RFLP and DGGE (which has been used on soil diazotrophs) identified similar relationships among marine cyanobacteria for the 16S of rRNA (Moesender et al. 1999). Dunbar et al. (2000) calibrated the T-RFLP method by comparing community composition, richness, and evenness of four soil microbial communities that had been previously analyzed by 16S rDNA cloning. They

demonstrated that T-RFLP is also an excellent method for rapidly comparing microbial communities from environmental samples.

5.1. Measurements of nitrogen fixation

Analysis of diazotroph community structure under conditions of simulated climate change is helpful for predicting how these communities will respond to environmental perturbation. If we wish to understand how altered diazotroph communities will function it is necessary to measure diazotroph activity under different treatments. Changes in the composition or structure of diazotroph communities have the potential to alter nitrogen fixation rates and ultimately N input to plants. These changes may take place on multiple timescales; miniscule changes in the activity of diazotrophs may or may not be measurable over several hours or days, but if these changes are sustained over the life of a long-lived woody plant, their cumulative effect may be dramatic. Thus, field measurements of nitrogenase activity are needed at two timescales; one measurement should indicate the potential of a given community to fix nitrogen at any point in time, while the second should indicate the longer-term trends in the nitrogen fixation rate at a site.

Perhaps the most commonly used technique to measure nitrogenase activity in the field is the Acetylene Reduction Assay (ARA) (Paerl 1998). The technique is possible because nitrogenase will reduce the triple bond in acetylene (producing ethylene) preferentially over dinitrogen. Acetylene and ethylene are easily separated by gas chromatography, and because it has been determined that acetylene will be preferentially reduced over nitrogen at a set ratio (4:1) (Crawford et al. 2000), estimates of the rate of nitrogen fixation can be made (Stewart et al. 1967; Burris 1974; Bergerson 1980). The ARA is considered a rapid, inexpensive and extremely sensitive technique (Shearer and Kohl 1986).

5.3. Natural ¹⁵N isotopes

¹⁴N is the dominant form of nitrogen found in nature. The addition of a single neutron to the nucleus of the nitrogen atom produces the ¹⁵N isotope. The ¹⁵N isotope is less favored by kinetics resulting in only 0.37% of total nitrogen found in this form, while ¹⁴N represents 99.63% of the total nitrogen pool (Mook and de Vries 1999). The extremely stable ratio of ¹⁵N:¹⁴N in the large atmospheric reservoir of N₂ lends itself well as a reference value. As such the atmospheric value has been designated as 0‰ (note that the ratio of ¹⁵N: ¹⁴N is expressed as a thousandth). As nitrogen cycles through soil, vegetation, and microbial biomass, slight fractionations of the isotopes occur. With each biological transformation, discrimination against the heavier isotope causes ¹⁵N to be less abundant in the new pool. This leads to a pattern of ¹⁵N and ¹⁴N abundance in terrestrial ecosystems, where vegetation is depleted in ¹⁵N and soil and litter are enriched in ¹⁵N compared to the atmospheric signature (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994). Typical values for ¹⁵N from different nitrogen pools are shown in Figure 1. The symbol δ^{15} N represents a change in ratio of ¹⁵N:¹⁴N above or below the atmospheric value.

Figure 1 depicts variation in the ¹⁵N values for each nitrogen pool. As nitrogen becomes more limiting to plant growth plants will quantitatively extract all nitrogen from the soil, resulting in little or no discrimination against the heavier nitrogen isotope (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994). However, if N-competition among soil organisms is great (as is often the case in natural systems), considerable partitioning of the N-pool may occur. Patterns in the ¹⁵N content of vegetation can provide insights to these interactions. For instance, δ^{15} N content of arctic plants is thought to be indicative of plant-mycorrhizal interactions (Hobbie et al. 2000) and provides some evidence that different mycorrhizal-types access different sources of soil nitrogen (Michelsen et al. 1996). Despite large variation in the N concentrations of new, mature and senescent foliage, seasonal fluctuations in the δ^{15} N value were found to be small for most species (one exception was Aspen growing at nutrient rich sites) (Kielland et al. 1998). This finding provides some confidence in the value of ¹⁵N as an integrator of plant-nitrogen relations (Kielland et al. 1998), at least in N-limited high arctic sites, suggesting that δ^{15} N values may be a useful indicator the long-term trends in nitrogen contributions from diazotrophs as well.



Figure i. A survey of the δ^{15} N values of nitrogen containing compounds in nature. The δ^{15} N values are given relative to the isotopic composition of atmospheric N₂ (0‰). (from: Mook and de Vries 1999).

6.1. Studies of community response to simulated climate change

In the future, arctic ecosystems are predicted to be less nitrogen limited than they are at present (Shaver et al. 1992, Chapin and Bledsoe 1992b). A combination of elevated CO_2 , increased air and soil temperatures, and increased depth of thaw in the permafrost are thought to be the major factors that will increase nitrogen supply, through faster recycling of the soil N pool (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992b). To assess the impact of climate change on terrestrial arctic ecosystems researchers have employed a variety of tools to simulate

the physical and chemical effects of climate change. Two such tools are the warming of air and soil (plant microclimate) and the addition of soluble nutrients.

Open Top Chambers (OTCs) are commonly used to simulate warming of soils and air (Marion 1997; Arft et al. 1999). OTCs are hexagonal structures with walls of transparent polycarbonate or fiberglass that passively warm the enclosed microenvironment (Marion et al. 1997). Detailed study of the structures in the field has shown that the mean daily near-surface air temperature and soil temperatures increased by 1.2°C to 1.8°C while unwanted side-effects such as altered light, moisture, and gas exchange are minimized (Marion et al. 1997). Water-soluble commercial fertilizer has been used to increase inorganic nutrient supply to tundra communities (Haag 1974; Chapin et al. 1975, 1986; Henry et al. 1986). In all of these studies plant growth and/or vigor was the response variable of interest.

Some key findings from experiments where tundra plant communities were treated with warming include the observation that air warming alone had no effect on plant biomass. This result was interpreted to mean that nutrient limitation is a stronger constraint on tundra plant biomass than is temperature (Shaver et al. 1992). Subsequently, when soil temperature was increased, nutrient availability increased in unfertilized plots and plant nutrient uptake and growth followed this trend (Shaver et al. 1992). The authors hypothesize that the release of plants from nitrogen limitation, due to increased microbial mineralization of nitrogen with warmer soils, accounted for the increase in plant biomass.

Swedish tundra soils (Schmidt et al. 2002). Here, warming was found to increase nutrient mineralization rates but, the increased nutrient supply was only immobilized into microbial biomass when competition with plant roots was excluded (Schmidt et al. 2002).

Increased mineralization rates with warming have been reported by many authors (Chapin and Bloom 1976, Chapin et al. 1995, Hartley et al. 1999, Ruess et al. 1999, Schmidt et al. 2002). In a study of a heath and a fellfield site in Swedish Lapland, warming caused increased densities of bacterial and fungal- feeding nematodes and an associated increase in microbial activity, and nutrient mineralization (Ruess et al. 1999). Increased rate of mineralization may be a result of increased activity of soil mesofauna. Alternatively, another mechanism suggested for this change is that the fraction of the microbial population that is favored by higher temperatures may have the ability to metabolize a range of substrates unavailable to microbes at lower temperatures (Zogg et al. 1997).

Nutrient (NPK) amendments have been shown to change plant species composition in arctic tundra communities. Henry et al. (1986) showed that a single addition of 20:20:20 fertilizer at the beginning of three growing seasons resulted in an increased dominance of forbs and graminoids over woody species in a three-year period. Similarly, when N-fertilizer was applied at a much higher rate to tussock tundra vegetation it was found that acquisition of added N was specific to plant functional groups. N-accumulation was greatest in mosses and least pronounced in evergreen shrubs (Chapin et al. 1995). In both studies the authors concluded that sustained increases in nutrient availability would

change the plant-species composition of the tundra communities they studied (Henry et al. 1986, Chapin et al. 1995).

In each of the studies examined, the increased nutrient content of soils, whether directly applied or achieved by microclimate warming, influenced the vigor and abundance or the activity of the organisms in question. These results indicate that climate change may have significant effects on the structure and activity of future arctic ecosystems. Simulated climate change may have similar impacts on communities of nitrogen fixing organisms, and changes in activity or community structure may be observed under experimental conditions.

LITERATURE CITED

Alexander, V., 1974. A synthesis of the IBP tundra biome circumpolar study of nitrogen fixation. In: Soil Organisms and Decomposition in Tundra. pp. 109-121. Eds: Holding , Heal, MacLean, Alexander, Flanagan. Tundra Biome Steering Committee, Stockholm.

Alexander, V., M. Billington, and D. M. Schell 1978. Nitrogen fixation in arctic and alpine tundra. In: vegetation nd production ecology of an Alaskan arctic tundra. (Ed: L. L. Tiezan) Springer-Verlag, New York: pp 539-558.

Arft, A.M., M.D. Walker, J. Gurevitch, J.M. Alatalo, M.S. Bret-Harte, M.Dale, M. Diemer, F. Gugerli, G.H.R. Henry, M.H. Jones, R.D. Hollister, I.S. Jonsdottir, K. Laine, E. Levesque, G.M. Marion, U.Molau, P. Molgaard, U. Nordenhall, V, Raszhivin, C.H. Robinson, G. Starr, A. Stenstrom, O. Totland, P.L. Turner, L.J. Walker, P.J Webber, J.M. Welker and P.A.Wookey 1999. Responses of tundra plants to experimental warming: meta-analysis of the international tundra experiment. Ecological Monographs: 69(4) p. 491-511.

Bergerson, F.J. 1980. Measurement of nitrogen fixation by direct means; pp. 65-75. In: Methods for Evaluating Biological Nitrogen Fixation Ed: F.J. Bergerson, Wiley and Sons, Chichester.

Beynon, J., M. Cannon, V. Buchanan-Wollaston, F. Cannon, 1988. The nif promoters of Klebsiella pneumoniae have a characteristic primary structure. Cell 34: 665-671.

Boer, G.J., N.A. McFarlane, J.P. Blanchet, M. Lazare, 1990. Greenhouse gas-induced climatic change simulated with the CCC second-generation GCM. In "Application of the Canadian Climate Centre General Circulation Model Output for Regional Climate Impact Studies: Guidelines for users" Ed. S.J. Cohen, pp 2-5. Atmospheric Environment Service, Canadian Climate Centre, Downsview, Ontario.

Borneman, J. and E. Triplett. 1997. Molecular microbial diversity in soils from eastern Amazonia: evidence for unusual microorganisms and microbial population shifts associated with deforestation. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 62(7) p. 2647-2653.

Bothe, H.1982. Nitrogen fixation. In: The biology of Nitrogen Fixation Eds: N.Carr, B. Whitton, p.87-104. Blackwell Scientific Publication, Oxford.

Bowen, G. D., 1987. The biology and physiology of infection and its development. In: Ecophysiology of VA Mycorrhizal Plants. pp. 27-58. Ed: Safir. CRC Press Inc. Boca Raton, FL.

Burris, R.H. Methodology, pp. 9-21, In A. Quispel, 1974. The Biology of N2 Fixation. North-Holland Publishers, Amsterdam.

Chapin, D.M., and C.S. Bledsoe, 1992a. Nitrogen fixation in Arctic plant communities. In: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. (Eds: F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda), pp 301-319. Academic Press, San Diego.

Chapin, D.M., and C.S. Bledsoe, 1992b. Arctic Plant Physiological Ecology: A Challenge for the future. In: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. (Eds: F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda), pp 3-8. Academic Press, San Diego.

Chapin, F. S. III 1980. The mineral nutrition of wild plants Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics: 11 233-260.

Chapin, D.M., L.C. Bliss, and L.J. Bledsoe 1991. Environmental regulation of nitrogen fixation in a high arctic lowland ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Botany 69: 2744-2755.

Chapin, F. S. III and A. Bloom 1976. Phosphate absorption: adaptation of tundra graminoids to a low temperature, low phosphorus environment. Oikos 26:111-121.

Chapin, F. S. III, P.C. Miller, W. D. Billlings, and P. I. Coyne, 1980. Carbon and nutrient budgets and their control in coastal tundra. pp 458-484 In: An Arctic Ecosystem: The Coastal Tundra at Barrow, Alaska. Eds: Brown, Mioller, Tiezen, and Bunnell. Dowden, Hutchinson and Ross, Stroudsburg, PA.

Chapin, F. S. III, G.R. Shaver, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, J.A Laundre, 1995. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology: 76 (3), 694-711.

Chapin, F. S. III, K. Van Cleve, L. L. Tiezen, 1975. Seasonal nutrient dynamics of tundra vegetation at Barrow, Alaska. Arctic and Alpine Research. 7:209-226.

Chapin, F. S. III, P. M. Vitosek, and K. VanCleve, 1986. The nature of nutrient limitation in plant communities. American Naturalist. 127:48-58.

Clement, B. G., L. E. Kehl, K. L. DeBord, and C. L. Kitts, 1998. Terminal Restriction Fragment Patterns (TRFP's), a rapid, PCR-based method for the comparison of complex bacterial communities. Journal of Microbiology. 31:135-142.

Coleman, D. C., C. P. P. Reid, and C. V. Cole 1983. Biological strategies of nutrient cycling in soil systems. Advances in Ecological Research 15: 1-55.

Crawford, N.M., M.L. Kahn, T. Leustek, and S.R. Long 2000. Nitrogen and Sulphur. *In:* Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants. Edited by B. Buchanan, W. Gruissem, and R. Jones. American Society of Plant Physiologists. pp. 786-796. Davey, A. 1983. Effects of abiotic factors on nitrogen fixation by blue-green algae in Antarctica. Polar Biology 2: 95-100.

Dawson, J. 1992. Nitrogen fixation in forests and agroforestry, p 227-53. In Soil Microbial Ecology Ed: F. Metting. Marcel Dekker, Inc., New York.

Dean, D. R. and M. R. Jacobson, 1992. Biochemical genetics of nitrogenase; pp 763-834. In: Biological Nitrogen Fixation Eds: Stacey, Burris, Evans. Chapman & Hall, London.

Dugdale, R, and J. Goering. 1967. Uptake of new and regenerated forms of nitrogen in primary productivity. Limnology and Oceanography: 12, 196-206.

Dunbar, J., S. White, and L.J. Forney, 1997. Genetic diversity through the looking glass: effect of enrichment bias. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 63: 1326-1331.

Dunbar, J., L.O. Ticknor, and C.R. Kuske, 2000. Assessment of microbial diversity in four south western united state soils by 16S rRNA gene terminal restriction fragment analysis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 66(7): 2943-2950.

Forster, S.M. and T. H. Nicholson, 1981. Aggregation of sand from a maritime embryo sand dune by microorganisms and higher plants. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 13: 199-203.

Fritz-Sheridan, R.P. 1988. Physiological ecology of nitrogen fixing blue-green algal crusts in the upper-sub-alpine life zone. Journal of Phycology 24: 302-309.

Gilbert, R.G. and R.G. Linderman, 1971. Increased activity of soil microorganisms near sclerotia of Sclerotium rolfsii in soil. Canadian Journal of Botany. 13: 199-203.

Granhall, U. and Lid-Torsvik, V., 1975. Nitrogen fixation by bacteria and free-living blue-green algea in tundra area. pp. 305-315. In: Fennoscandian Tundra Ecosystems. Ed: Wielgolaski. Springer-Verlag, New York.

Haag, R., 1974. Nutrient limitation to plant production in two tundra communities. Canadian Journal of Botany. 52:103-116.

Hartley, A.E., N.C. Melillo, R. Crabtree, and F.P. Bowles 1999. Plant performance and soil nitrogen mineralization in response to simulated climate change in subarctic dwarf shrub heath- Oikos 86: 331-343.

Hassouma, M. G. and P. F. Wareing, 1964. Possible role of rhizosphere bacteria in nitrogen of Ammophila arenaria. Nature 202: 467-496.

Henry, G. H. R., B. Freedman, J. Svoboda, 1986. Effects of fertilization on three tundra plant communities of a polar desert oasis. Canadian Journal of Botany. 64:2502-2507.

Henry, G. and Svoboda. 1988. Diniotrogen fixation (Acetylene Reduction) in high-arctic sedge meadows. Arctic and Alpine Research: 18, p.181-187.

Hobbie, E. A., S.A. Macko, M. Williams 2000. Correlations between foliar δ 15N and nitrogen concentrations may indicate plant-mycorrhizal interaction. Oecologia 122: 273-283.

Houghton J.T., L.G. Meira Filho, J. Bruce, H. Lee, B.A. Callander, E. Haites, K. Maskell, 1995. Climate Change 1994: Radiative forcing of climate change and an evaluation of the IPCC IS92 Emission Scenarios. Reports of working Groups I and III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.

Houghton J.T., L.G. Meira Filho, B.A. Callander, N. Harris, A. Kattenberg, K. Maskell, 1996. Climate Change 1995: The Science of Climate Change. Contribution of the WG1 to the second assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.

Jeong, S. C. and D. D. Myrold, 2000. Population size and diversity of Frankia in soils of Ceanothus velutinus and Douglas-fir stands. Soil Biology and Biochemistry. 33: 931-941.

Jordan, D.C., P. J. McNicol, and M. R. Marshall, 1978. Biological nitrogen fixation in the terrestrial environment of a high arctic ecosystem (Truelove Lowland, Devon Island, N.W.T.). Canadian Journal of Microbiology. 24:643-649.

Karagatzides, J. D., M.C. Lewis, and H.M. Schulman 1985. Nitrogen fixation in the high arctic tundra at Sarcpa Lake, Northwest Teritories. Canadian Journal of Botany 63: 974-979.

Kielland, K. B. Barnett, D. Schell 1998. Intraseasonal variation in the δ^{15} Nsignature of taiga trees and shrubs. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 28: 485-488.

Kirshtein, J., H. Paerl, and J. Zehr.1991. Amplification, cloning, and sequencing of a nifH segment from aquatic microorganisms and natural communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 57 (9) p. 2645-2650.

Li, C.Y., H.B. Masssicote, L.V.H. Moore, 1995. Nitrogen-fixing Bacillus sp. Associated with Douglas-fir tuberculate ectomycorrhizae. Plant and Soil: 140, p. 35-40.

Lennihan, R., D.M. Chapin, and L. G. Dickson 1994. Nitrogen fixation and photosynthesis in high arctic forms of *Nostoc commune*. Candian Journal of Botany 72: 940-945.

Liengen, T. 1999. Environmental factors influencing the nitrogen fixation activity of freeliving terrestrial cyanobacteria from a high arctic area, Spitsbergen. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 45: 573-581.

Liengen, T. and R.A. Olsen 1997a. Seasonal and site-specific variations in nitrogen fixation in a high arctic area, Ny-Alesund, Spitsbergen. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 43: 759-769.

Liengen, T. and R.A. Olsen 1997b. Nitrogen fixation by free-living cyanobacteria from different coastal sites in a high-arctic tundra, Spitsbergen. Arctic and Alpine Research 29: 470-477.

Linderman, R.G., 1988. Mycorrhizal interactions with the rhizosphere microflora: the microrhizoshpere effect. Phytopathology 78 (3): 366-71.

Liu, W., T. Marsh, H. Cheng, and L Forney, 1997. Characterization of microbial diversity by determining terminal restriction fragment length polymorphisms of genes encoding 16S rRNA. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 63 (11) p. 4516-4522.

Marion, G. M., G.H.R. Henry, D.W. Freckman, J. Johnstone, G. Jones, M. H. Jones, E. Levesque, U. Molau, P.Molgaard, A.N. Parson, J. Svoboda, and R.A. Virginia. 1997 Open top designs for manipulating field temperature in high-latitude ecosystems. Global Change Biology 3(Supplement 1): 20-32.

Michelsen, A., I. K. Schmidt, S. Jonasson, C. Quarmby, D. Sleep 1996. Leaf ¹⁵N abundance of subarctic plants provides field evidence that ericoid, ectomycorrhizal and non- and arbuscular mycorrhizal species access different sources of soil nitrogen. Oecologia 105: 53-63.

Miller, R., 1987. VAM in grasslands. In: Ecophysiology of VA Mycorrhizal Plants. pp. 250-275. Ed: Safir. CRC Press Inc. Boca Raton, FL.

Moesender, M. M., J. M. Arrieta, G. Muyzer, C. Winter, and G. J. Herndl, 1999. Optimization of terminal-restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis for complex marine bacterioplankton communities and comparison with denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 65: 3518-3525.

Mook W.G. and J.J. de Vries, 1999. Natural isotopes other than H, C, O. pp 220-221. In: Environmental Isotopes in the hydrological cycle: principles and application. From: www.iaea.or.at/programmes/ripc/ih/volumesvol_one/cht_I_12.pdf.

Nadelhoffer, K. J. and B. Fry, 1994. Nitrogen isotope studies in forest ecosystems. In: Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science, Eds: Lajtha and Michener. pp 22-44. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London. Nadlehoffer, K. J., A. E. Giblin, G. R. Shaver, A. E. Linkins, 1992. Microbial processes and plant nutrient availability in arctic soils. In: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. Eds: F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda. pp. 281-300. Academic Press, San Diego.

Ohkuma, M., S. Noda and T. Kudo, 1999. Phylogenetic diversity of nitrogen fixation genes in the symbiotic microbial community in the gut of diverse termites. Applied and Environmental Microbialogy. 65: 4926-4934.

Ohkuma .M., S. Noda, R. Usami, K.Horikoshi, and T. Kudo, 1996. Diversity of nitrogen fixation genes in the symbiotic intestinal microflora of the termite Reticulitermes speratus. Applied and Environmental Microbialogy. 62: 2747-2752.

Oyalzu-Masuchi, Y. and K. Komagata, 1988. Isolation of free-living nitrogen-fixing bacteria from the rhizosphere of rice. The Journal of General and Applied Microbiology. 34: 127-164.

Paerl, H., K. Croker, L. Prufert. 1987. Limitation of N2 fixation in coastal marine waters: relative importance of molybdenum, iron, phosphorus and organic matter availability. Limnology and Oceanography: 32, p. 525-36.

Paerl, H. 1998. Microbially mediated nitrogen cycling. In: Techniques in Microbial Ecology Eds: R. Burlage, R. Atlas, D. Stahl, G.Geesey, G. Sayle, p. 3-30. Oxford University Press, New York.

Paul E.A. and F.E. Clark 1996. Soil Microbiology and Biochemistry. Academic Press, Toronto.

Piceno, Y. M. and C. R. Lovell 2000. Stability of bacterial communities: I. Nutrient addition effects on rhizosphere diazotroph assemblage composition. Microbial Ecology 39: 32-40.

Piceno, Y. M. and C. R. Lovell 2000. Stability of bacterial communities: II. Plant resource allocation effects on rhizosphere diazotroph assemblage composition. Microbial Ecology 39: 41-48.

Poly F, L. Ranjard, S. Nazaret, F. Gourbiere, L. Monrozier. 2001. Comparison of nifH gene pools in soils and soil microenvironments with contrasting properties. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 67 (5), p. 2255-62.

Postgate, J. and R. Eady. 1988. The evolution of biological nitrogen fixation. In: Nitrogen fixation: Hundred Years After. (Eds: Bothe, de Bruijn, Newton), pp.31-40. Gustav Fisher, Stuttgart.

Rosado, A. S., G.F. Duarte, L. Seldin, and J. D. Van Elsas, 1998. Genetic diversity of nifH gene sequences in Paenibacillus azotofixans strain and soil samples analyzed by denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis of PCR-amplified gene fragments. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. 64(8): 2770-2779.

Ruess, L., A. Michelsen, I. K. Schmidt, S. Jonasson 1999. Simulated climate change affecting microorganisms, nematode density and biodiversity in subarctic soils. Plant and Soil 242(1): 63-73.

Schmidt, I. K., S. Jonasson, G. R. Shaver, A. Michelsen, A. Nordin 2002. Mineralization and distribution of nutrients in plants and microbes in four arctic ecosystems: responses to warming: Plant and Soil 242 (1): 93-106.

Shaffer, B.T., R. Widmer, L.A. Porteous, R.J. Seidler, 2000. Temporal and Spatial Distribution of the nifH gene of N2 fixing bacteria in forests and clearcuts in western Oregon. Microbial Ecology 39:12-21.

Shaver, G.R., W.D. Billings, F. S. Chapin III, A. E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, W.C. Oechel and E. B. Rastetter, 1992. Global change and the carbon balance of arctic ecosystems. Bioscience 42 (6): 433-41.

Shaver, G. and Chapin, F. III. 1980. Response to fertilization by various growth forms in an Alaskan tundra: nutrient accumulation and growth. Ecology 61, p. 662-75.

Shaver, G. and Chapin, F. III. 1986. Effect of fertilizer on production and biomass of tussock tundra, Alaska U.S.A. Arctic and Alpine Research 18, p. 261-68.

Shearer, G. D., and R. A. Kohl, 1986. N2-fixation in field settings: estimations based on natural 15N abundance. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology 13:699-756.

Stewart, W. D P., G. P. Fitzgerald, and R, H, Burris, 1967. In situ studies on N2 fixation using the acetylene reduction technique. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science. 58: 2071-2076.

Stutz, R.C., 1977. Biological nitrogen fixation in high arctic soils, Truelove Lowland. pp. 301-314. In: Truelove Lowland, Devon Island, Canada: a High Arctic Ecosystem. Ed: L.C. Bliss. University of Alberta Press, Edmonton.

Sutton, J.C. and B. R. Sheppard, 1976. Aggregation of sand-dune soil by endomycorrhizal fungi. Canadian Journal of Botany. 54: 326-333.

Tiedje, J., S. Asuming-Brempong, K. Nusslein, T. Marsh, S. Flynn. 1999. Opening the black box of soil microbial diversity. Applied Soil Ecology: 13 p.109-122.

Ueda, T., Y. Suga, N. Yahiro, and T. Matsuguchi, 1995. Remarkable N2-Fixing bacterial diversity detected in rice roots by molecular evolutionary analysis of NifH gene sequences. Journal of Bacteriology:177, p. 1414-1417.

Ulrich, A. and P. L. Gesper, 1978. Plant nutrient limitations of tundra plant growth. In Vegetation and Production Ecology of an Alaskan Arctic Tundra. Ed: L.L. Tiezen. pp. 457-481. Springer-Verlag, New York.

Vitousek, P.M. 1999. Nutrient limitation to nitrogen fixation in young volcanic sites. Ecosystems 2: 505-510.

Warrick,R.A. H.H. Shugart, M. Antonovsky, J.R. Tarrant and C.J. Tucker, 1986. The effects of increased CO2 and climatic change on terrestrial ecosystems. In "The Greenhouse Effect, Climatic Change and Ecosystems" Eds: B.Bolin, B. Doos, J. Jager, and R.A. Warrick, pp 363-392. Chichester.

Wayne, L. G., D. J. Brenner, R. R. Colwell, P. A. D. Grimont, O. Kandler, M. I. Krichevsky, L. H. Moore, W. E. C. Moore, R. G. E. Murray, E. Stackebrandt, M. P. Starr, and H.G. Truper, 1987. Report of the Ad hoc committee on the reconciliation of approaches to bacterial systematics. International Journal of Systematic Bacteriology. 37: 463-464.

Widmer, F., B.T. Shaffer, L.A. Porteous, and R.J Seidler, 1999. Analysis of nifH gene pool complexity in soil and litter at a Douglas Fir forest sire in the Oregon Cascade mountain range. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65 (2): 377-80.

Young, J. 1992. Phylogenetic Classification of Nitrogen-Fixing Organisms. In: Biological Nitrogen Fixation (Eds. Stacey, Burris, Evans), p.43-87. Chapman & Hall, New York.

Zehr, J.P. and McReynolds, L.A., 1989. Use of degenerate oligonucleotides for amplification of the nifH gene from the marine cyanobacterium Trichodesmium thiebautii. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 55 (10), p. 2522-2526.

Zehr, J, M. Mellon, S. Zani. 1998. New nitrogen-fixing microorganisms detected in Oligotrophic oceans by amplification of nitrogenase (nifH) genes. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 64 (9), 3444-50.

Zogg, G.P., D.R. Zak, D.B. Ringelberg, N.W. MacDonald, K.S. Pregitzer, and D.C. White 1997. Compositional and functional shifts in microbial communities due to soil warming. Soil Science Society of America Journal 61: 475-481.
2. WILL CLIMATE CHANGE ALTER ARCTIC NITROGEN BUDGETS? IMPACTS OF WARMING AND FERTILIZATION ON NITROGEN FIXING MICROBIAL COMMUNITIES AT ALEXANDRA FIORD, ELLESMERE ISLAND, NUNAVUT

INTRODUCTION

Temperature increase at arctic latitudes as a result of climate change is predicted to be 2- 5° C over the next century (Houghton et al. 1995, 1996) and will be far greater than the global mean change (Boer et al. 1990). In the past, climate transitions have led to a disproportionate response by arctic communities, suggesting that present day ecosystems are especially vulnerable to future climate change (Warrick et al. 1986). Arctic ecosystems are considered sensitive indicators of anticipated larger and slower global responses to climate change (Shaver et al. 1992).

Low temperature limits decomposition and subsequent N-mineralization in many arctic ecosystems and consequently plant production is often N-limited (Ulrich and Gesper 1978; Shaver and Chapin 1980, 1986, Chapin et al. 1986). In the future, higher rates of nutrient mineralization and an increased depth of thaw are likely to relieve N-limitation of plants in the short-term (Naddlehoffer et al. 1992, Shaver et al. 1992). Ultimately though, arctic plant production is dependent on the input of new N. Nitrogen fixation is the primary source of new N to terrestrial arctic ecosystems and variation in its input may be a major regulator of ecosystem productivity in the long term (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992b).

It has been predicted that warmer temperatures will increase arctic nitrogen fixation rates by a factor of 1.5-2 (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992a). Increased temperature is expected to induce the strongest direct change in N-fixation rates by increasing all metabolic processes in soil microorganisms, although increased moisture may be important for certain key photoautotrophic diazotrophs (particularly cyanobacteria). Increases in the productivity of photosynthetic nitrogen fixers due to higher atmospheric CO_2 concentrations will also be important in securing this increase (Chapin and Bledsoe 1992a). If these predictions prove true, future arctic plant communities may enjoy a greater N-supply allowing for greater sequestration of atmospheric CO_2 in plant biomass and a down-regulation of the CO_2 induced greenhouse effect. Alternatively, if climate warming does not result in higher rates of N-fixation and an increased supply of N, plant productivity will be tightly constrained by the mineralization of organic N in soils.

Extensive research effort throughout the circumpolar arctic has been devoted to the study terrestrial ecosystems response to climate warming (see Chapin et al. 1995, Arft et al. 1999). A principal finding of these studies has been that increased nutrient content of soils, whether achieved by direct application of nutrients or by microclimate warming, influenced the vigor and abundance of plants and ultimately plant community composition (Henry et al. 1986, Shaver et al. 1992, Chapin et al. 1995). However, the response variable of interest in these studies has often been plant growth and reproduction and relatively little is known about the subsurface ecosystem. Specifically, it is unknown if, or how, the nitrogen-fixing (diazotroph) community changed in these studies. Given the importance of diazotrophs to the long-term productivity of these sites,

this knowledge would greatly improve our ability to predict the fate of N-limited arctic plant communities.

The purpose of this study was to investigate the structure and activity of diazotroph communities under conditions of simulated climate change. Our null hypothesis was that warming or fertilization would not alter diazotroph communities or N fixation rates. We expected that warming would relieve the N-limitation of arctic plants partly through increases in nitrogen fixation rates and/or changing the composition of diazotroph communities. We also assessed the relative dependence of arctic plants on nitrogenase derived N as a function of warming.

METHODS

Site, soils, experimental design

The study site selected lies in a glacial lowland adjacent to Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Canada (78° 53' N, 75° 55' W). The dominant landform is an outwash plain and the vegetation type is characterized as dwarf-shrub cushion-plant, while the most common soil type is characterized as an Orthic Static Cryosol (Muc et al. 1994). Small hummocks occur through much of the site and the active layer is approximately 35 cm in depth. A fluctuating water table produces mottled mineral soils under a layer of organic matter 5-10 cm thick, organic matter is often mixed into mineral soil. A second soil type,

a Gleysolic Static Cryosol (Muc et al. 1994), occurs locally along the south western margin of the site boardering a drainage channel. Here larger diameter organic hummocks occur which are surrounded by water channels, eroded to the mineral substratum. Table 1 provides physical and chemical data for these two soil types. All data in Table 1 is from Muc et al. (1994). Dominant plants at the site consist of perennial woody species notably: *Salix arctica, Cassiope tetragona* and *Dryas integrifolia*. Herbaceous species include *Eriophorum angustifolium, Carex stans*, and *Carex membranacea*.

Soil	Horizon	pН	Organic	Total N	Available	Soil texture		
	(depth)		matter	(g/kg)	Р	Sand	Silt	Clay
	(cm)		(%)		(ppm)	(%)	(%)	(%)
Orthic	LF	5.1	30	0.018	1	71	17	12
Static	(6-0)							
Cryosol								
-	Bm	5.3	1.5	0.006	12	84	1	15
	(0-8)							
	С	5.4	1.7	0.007	2	68	16	16
	(8-35)							
Gleysolic	Om	4.9	29	0.011	1	67	18	15
Static	(8-10)							
Cryosol								
-	Cg	5.1	4.0	0.0011	7	67	17	16
	(0-50)							
	Cz	No	No	No	No	No	No	No
	(50+)	data	data	data	data	data	data	data

Table 1: Physical and chemical data for the two dominant soil forms at the study site. All data is complied from Muc et al. (1994)

* Total N was determined by micro-Kjeldahl method and extractable P was determined by weak acid extraction (see Muc et al. 1994).

In 1995, 16 transparent fibreglass Open Top Chambers (OTCs) approximately 1 m in diameter, and 16, 1 m^2 control plots were placed at random locations at the tundra site. In 2000, 8 controls and 8 OTCs were randomly selected for fertilization treatments.

Fertilization treatments consisted of a single 5 g m⁻² addition of 20N: $20P_2O_5$: $20K_2O$ water-soluble fertilizer applied in early June 2000. This was repeated in 2001. Nitrogen was present as ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃). Unfertilized plots were treated with a volume of water equal to that used to dissolve the fertilizer. Soil samples were collected from 8 OTC and 8 control plots in 2001, remaining plots were sampled in 2002. This experiment will be referred to as the "OTC experiment".

In 2002, a second experiment was established to investigate the temporal effects of fertilization on nitrogen fixation and *nif*H gene community structure. Three 1 m² fertilization plots and three control plots were established adjacent to the OTC site. The fertilization plots were treated with a single 5 g m⁻² addition of 20N: $20P_2O_5$: $20K_2O$ water-soluble fertilizer applied on the 28^{th} of June, 2002. This will be referred to as the "Temporal fertilization experiment". The temporal fertilization experiment was sampled twice during the summer of 2002, in conjunction with the OTC experiment.

To address potential shifts in diazotroph communities due to repeated sampling, a disturbance experiment was also established in 2002. Three replicate plots were established for each of four levels of disturbance. On July 15th, 2002 the first 2 treatments were left in a pristine state, three 225 cm³ soil plugs were removed from the third treatment, while nine 225 cm³ soil plugs were removed from treatment 4 (all soil plugs were discarded). Two weeks post-disturbance on the 31st of July, 2002, three 225 cm³ soil samples were removed from treatments 2 (pristine), 3 (3 samples removed), and 4 (9 samples removed), sealed in air tight bags, and frozen for subsequent DNA analysis.

Thus, after the first sampling treatment 1 was pristine, treatment 2 had 3 samples removed, treatment 3 had 6 samples removed and treatment 4 had 12 samples removed. Finally on August 7th, 23 days after the initial disturbance and 7 days after the second disturbance (first sampling date), three 225cm³ soil samples were removed from all disturbance plots and stored as above. This experiment will be referred to as the "Disturbance experiment".

Acetylene Reduction Assays

Acetylene reduction assays (ARA) were used to estimate nitrogen fixation rates in treatment and control plots of the OTC and Temporal Fertilization experiments during the summer of 2002. In order to minimize the impacts of repeated samplings, 3 soil samples were randomly selected for collection in early summer (June 28 to July 5) and 6 soil samples were harvested from treatment plots in peak summer (July 23 to August 3). Two hundred and twenty-five cubic centimeter soil samples were weighed and placed on glass plates and covered with glass cuvettes fitted with rubber septa and a VacugreaseTM seal. Before sealing the cuvette, soil samples were moistened with creek water from a spray bottle to prevent desiccation during incubations. Acetylene gas was generated on-site from CaC₂ and water and injected into cuvettes to comprise 10% of the total headspace by volume. Prior to the first sampling period, the length of incubation time required to detect ethylene in samples was found to be about 30 hours, and ethylene peaks of repeatable size were obtained after 35 hours. During the incubations, headspace gas was

sampled twice, after approximately 45 and 60 hours, by puncturing the rubber septa with a two-way needle and removal to a 2 ml VacutainerTM. Twenty-four soil samples in glass incubators were assayed per sampling period. Incubators were kept on a wooden table top painted white, and surrounded with ice and snow in sealed plastic bags, to minimize the thermal energy gained by the incubators. On sunny days the incubators were also covered in white shade cloth for the duration of the incubation. Mean incubator temperature was 8.3° C and ranged from 5° C to 14° C through out the sampling season.

The ratio of acetylene to ethylene in gas samples was measured in the field with a portable gas chromatograph (SRI 8610A, Wennick Scientific Corporation) fitted with a Porapak column and a flame ionization detector. Hydrogen was used as the carrier gas and held at a constant pressure of 25 psi. During each incubation period, point measurements of temperature were taken within a control incubator (sealed cuvette with soil sample but no acetylene) with a hand-held digital thermometer fitter with copper-constantan thermocouples. These were used to correct the volume of acetylene for incubator temperature.

Due to a technical problem, no ambient air temperature data were available for Alexandra Fiord during the entire sampling period. In order to correct ARA data for temperature differences among sampling periods, hourly mean temperatures at the Environment Canada weather station at Eureka were used. Eureka is also a sea level site located approximately 100 km east of Alexandra Fiord. Excellent correlation (p=00000) was found between hourly mean temperatures at Alexandra Fiord and Eureka weather station

in July and August 2001. ARA data in 2002 was corrected for the mean temperature difference among sampling periods using Eureka temperature data. The mean ambient air temperature at Eureka during all incubation periods was 5.3° C. ARA rates that were determined for incubation periods that deviated from the mean ambient air temperature were corrected to this temperature using a $Q_{10} = 5.6$ (Stutz and Bliss 1975, Henry and Svoboda 1986). The conversion factor for acetylene reduction to nitrogen fixation used was 4 (Jensen and Cox 1983, Liengen 1999, Crawford et al. 2000). After incubation, all soil samples were placed in sealed plastic bags and frozen for further use. Nitrogen fixation data were analyzed with a General Linear Model ANOVA that allowed for the effects of categorical (OTC and nutrient amendments) and continuous (moisture content, soil %N and %C) variables to be analyzed simultaneously. All ANOVAs were performed using STATISTICA version 6.0 (Statsoft Inc. 2002).

DNA extraction and PCR amplification

A 1 g sub-sample was removed from each soil sample collected for ARA analysis and allowed to thaw at room temperature in the lab. DNA was extracted and purified from these soils using a commercial kit according to the manufacturer's directions (MoBio UltraClean Soil DNA isolation kit). Bulk DNA was kept frozen at -20° C. A half-nested polymerase chain reaction (PCR) protocol was used to amplify a 365 bp fragment of the *nif*H gene from a diluted extract. The primary amplification employed the primers Nh21F (5'GCIWTYTAYGGNAARGG) and WidNhR (5' GCRTAIABNGCCATCATYTC, (see

Widmer et al.1999)). Both primers were synthesized by Invitrogen. The half-nested secondary amplifications employed dye-labeled primers (IDT Technologies). The forward primer, Cy5Nh21F, had the same nucleotide sequence as the Nh21F primer above, while the reverse primer, Cy55Nh428R (5' Cy5.5-CCRCCRCANACMACGTC) was similar in sequence to one developed by Widmer et al. (1999) with a few substitutions to optimize amplification efficiency. PCR cocktails consisted of genomic DNA (approximately 100 ng), 0.2 mM dNTPs, 0.4 µM primers, 10X PCR Buffer (Life Technologies), 2 mM MgCl₂, and 0.72 U of Platinum Taq DNA polymerase (Life Technologies) in a final volume of 30 µl. PCRs were performed with a single thermocycler program consisting of an initial denaturing temperature of 94°C for 2 minutes and 10 seconds followed by 35 cycles of: denaturing at 94°C for 45 s, annealing at 53°C for 45 s, and extension at 72°C for 45 s. A final extension period of 3 minutes at 72°C completed the program. A PTC-100 Programmable Thermal Controller (MJ Research Inc.) was used for all amplifications.

T-RFLP analysis

Endonuclease digests were performed on $\$\mu$ l aliquots of PCR product with the enzymes *Taq*I and *Hha*I (Invitogen). *In silico* assays were performed on *nif*H genes using all of the restriction endonucleases available from the manufacturer Invitrogen. The enzymes *Taq*I and *Hha*I were complimentary; *Taq*I has a GC-rich recognition sequence (G_↑CG[↓]C), while *Hha*I has an AT-rich recognition sequence (T[↓]CG_↑A) and both were high frequency cutters. Reactions were incubated overnight at temperatures optimal for enzyme function (65°C and 37°C respectively). Restriction products were kept frozen at -20°C until analyzed. Terminal Restriction Fragment Length Polymorphism (T-RFLP) analysis was used to generate unique *nif*H gene community profiles for each soil sample. *Nif*H restriction products were denatured at 80°C in formamide and run on vertical polyacrylamide gels for 45 minutes on OpenGene DNA sequencers (Bayer/Visible Genetics). Dye-labeled-oligonucleotide markers of 101, 200, and 351 base pairs were used as internal standards. All resulting T-RFLP profiles were analyzed manually using GeneObjects 3.1 software (Visible Genetics). *Nif*H genotypes were manually binned by fragment size and the frequency of each genotype in soil samples from replicate treatment plots was determined.

Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMS) was chosen to visualize treatment plots in genotype-space. NMS (Mather 1976; Kruskal 1964) is an ordination technique that uses an iterative approach to position n entities on k dimensions that minimizes the stress of the k-dimensional configuration (McCune and Grace 2002). All ordinations were run using PC-ORD version 4.0 in the 'auto-pilot' mode which used random starting configurations and assessed dimensionality by minimizing stress. Sorensen distance was selected as the distance measure for each initial matrix (McCune and Mefford 1999). Where necessary, Beals smoothing was applied to *nif*H frequency matrices to reduce noise and enhance the strongest patterns in the dataset (Beals 1984, McCune 1994).

Elemental analysis and moisture content

Soil samples used for ARA and DNA extraction were oven dried at 90°C for 24 hours and reweighed as a measure of moisture content. A small amount of each sample was reserved for elemental analysis. These samples were mechanically ground in a soil grinder and analyzed for carbon and nitrogen concentration by elemental analysis using an AC 1500 Fisions NC autoanalyzer. Differences in N and C concentrations among treatments were analyzed with one way ANOVA performed using STATISTICA version 6.0 (Statsoft Inc. 2002).

¹⁵N analysis of plants and soils

In August of 2002, leaves and stems of *Salix arctica*, and *Dryas integrifolia* were sampled from each of the 16 treatment and control plots from the OTC experiment. These species were selected because while are both long-lived, ectomycorrhizal, woody, shrubs that were present in every treatment plot, they differ in that *Dryas integrifolia* is also actinorhizal and may access N derived from the atmosphere. Plant materials were sealed in air-tight plastic bags and frozen for transport to the laboratory. Plant samples were transferred to paper bags and dried at 90°C for 24 hours, then ground with a mortar and pestle. Small amounts of oven-dried and ground soil samples were also allocated for isotope analysis. Plant and soil samples were analyzed for ¹⁵N with a Finnigan MAT 252 mass spectrometer. The significance of OTC, nutrient amendment and species on the

 δ^{15} N value of plant material was tested by ANOVA using STATISTICA version 6.0 (Statsoft Inc. 2002).

RESULTS

Elemental analysis of plants and soils

Elemental analysis of total carbon and nitrogen revealed that the 5 g m⁻² additions of 20N: $20P_2O_5$: $20K_2O$ fertilizer to the OTC experiment in 2000 and 2001 had no significant effect on total soil N or C by mid-summer in 2001 or in 2002. Soils had a mean nitrogen concentration of 0.014 ± 0.001 g kg⁻¹ and a C: N of 18.4 ± 0.3 (S.E.). In 2002, the fertilization treatments from the temporal fertilization experiment had the highest N-concentration, however these were still not significantly different from those of the control plots. Table 2 depicts mean soil N and C concentrations and C: N ratios for the OTC and temporal fertilization experiments from the second sampling period. Different letters denote significant differences at alpha = 0.05, using a Tukey's post hoc test.

Experiment	Treatment	N g kg ⁻¹	C g kg ⁻¹	C:N ratio
OTC	OTC and	0.01065 ^a	0.2023 ^a	18.83 ^a
	fertilization			
	(2000, 2001)			
OTC	OTC	0.01808 ^{b,c}	0.3603 ^b	18.83 ^a
OTC	Fertilization	0.01167 ^a	0.2085 ^a	18.69^{a}
	(2000, 2001)			
OTC and	Control	0.01612 ^{a,c}	0.2668 ^a	16.68 ^b
Temporal				
fertilization				
Temporal	Fertilization	0.1889 ^{b,c}	0.2464 ^a	15.61 ^b
fertilization	(2002 only)			

Table 2: Mean soil N and C concentrations and C: N ratios for OTC and Temporal fertilization experiments from the second sampling period (July 23-August 3) 2002

* Different letters denote significant differences at alpha = 0.05, as determined with Tukey's Post hoc test

Warming caused no significant change in the N-concentration of soils but resulted in an increase the C-concentration of soils treated with OTCs only (Table 2). However, this increased C did not correspond to higher C: N ratios in the soil of OTC plots when compared to OTC and fertilization plots or fertilization plots (Table 2). The C: N ratios of all treatment plots from the OTC experiment (OTC fertilization, OTC, and fertilization treatments) were significantly higher than those of the control plots or the temporal fertilization plots (Table 2).

Elemental analysis of plant materials in 2002 indicates a strong species bias for nitrogen concentration. The non-actinorhizal species (*Salix arctica*), had significantly higher (p<0.0001) nitrogen concentration than did the actinorhizal species (*Dryas integrifolia*) in all treatments. Warming caused a significant decrease (p=0.029) in the nitrogen concentration of *D. integrifolia* (Figure 1), but had no effect on the non-actinorhizal species.



Figure 1: Foliar N content of Salix arctica and Dryas integrifolia from warmed and control plots

S. arctica showed a weak trend (non-significant at alpha=0.05) toward higher plant nitrogen concentrations with fertilization (Figure 2), while the N-concentration of *D. integrifolia* was unchanged with fertilization.



Acetylene Reduction Assays

No differences in fixation rates were found due to warming or to longer-term fertilizations in the OTC experiment. Fixation rates were spatially variable, with replicates from some sampling plots showing no activity after 60 hours of incubation. The mean rate of N-fixation was found to be $3.5 \times 10^{-2} \pm 5.2 \times 10^{-3}$ mg N·m⁻²·hr⁻¹ over the summer. Short-term fertilization had no immediate effect on fixation rates but caused a significant increase in fixation (p=0.00000) by the second sampling period (19-35 days post-fertilization). Mean rates increased to $0.136 \pm 3.4 \times 10^{-2}$ N·m⁻²·hr⁻¹, with the addition of 20N: $20P_2O_5$: $20K_2O$ fertilizer in 2002 (Figure 3).



Figure 3: Nitrogen fixation rates for OTC experiment and temporal fertilization experiment for the second sampling period (July 23- August 3), 2002

T-RFLP analysis

NMS plots of sampling units in genotype-space revealed that *nif*H-gene communities were most strongly structured by warming late in the 2002 growing season. Figure 4 shows soils that received the OTC-treatments grouped in the top, right-hand corner of the plot while fertilized and control soils formed a looser group on the bottom, left-hand-side. Sixty-five iterations produced a 3-dimensional solution with a final stress of 9.43 and a final instability of 0.00009. Axis 1 and 2 shown here, account for 6 and 49% of the total

variance in the dataset (cumulative $r^2 = .54$), while the third axis accounted for 18 % (total $r^2 = .730$). An overlay of nitrogen fixation rates on the same NMS ordination (Figure 5) shows that higher rates of N-fixation were not associated with *nif*H communities from any particular treatment.



Figure 4: NMS plot of treatment and control plots in *nifH* genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the second sampling period (July 23-August 3) 2002.





Figure 5: Overlay of nitrogen fixation rates (N mg m⁻² hr⁻¹) on an NMS plot of treatments in genotype space, data for second sampling period (July 23-August 3) 2002.

Earlier in 2002, no strong relationship among diazotroph communities was found to be due to warming. A NMS plot of sampling units in genotype-space (Figure 6) from the first sampling period (June 28- July 5) revealed no clear separation of *nif*H communities from warmed or control treatments. Axis 1, which accounts for 45% of the variation in this 2-dimensional solution, produced after 82 iterations, indicates a weak trend of warmed sampling units on the lower half of the axis, while un-warmed plots appear toward the upper half. No trend exists along axis 2, which accounts for 37% of the variance in the dataset (cumulative $r^2 = .82$). These results must be interpreted with caution as the final stress and instability of this ordination were both rather high (13.79 and 0.0001, respectively).



Axis $1(r^2 = .45)$

Figure 6: NMS plot of treatment and control plots in *nif*H genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the first sampling period (June 28-July 5) 2002.

Fertilization treatments from the temporal fertilization experiment were not associated with detectable changes in diazotroph communities in 2002. Short term fertilization treatments had *nif*H gene profiles similar to those from control soils. Figure 7 shows the second and third axis (40% and 33% of the variation, respectively) of a 3-dimensional solution (cumulative $r^2 = .805$) produced after 37 iterations, with a final stress of 8.69 and a final instability of 0.00008. Longer-term fertilization plots had diverse *nif*H communities. Two of four long-term-fertilization plots (c16 and c5) were similar to control soils while two plots (c2 and c12) ranked very low on axis 2 (Figure 7). These two sampling plots grouped more closely with soils that received OTC-treatment than with control soils when all sampling units were combined (data not shown).



Figure 7: NMS ordination of fertilized and control plots in *nifH* genotype space. T-RFLP data collected during the second sampling period (July 16-August 3) 2002.

In 2001, warming and fertilization treatments were associated with different patterns of *nif*H-gene community composition. Figure 8 is a plot of a 2-dimensional NMS ordination, resulting from 46 iterations. The solution has a final stress of 11.5, and a final instability of 0.00006. Axis 1 describes only 8.9% of the variance in the data while axis 2 accounts for 78.2 (cumulative r^2 = .871). In order to reach a stable NMS solution it was necessary to omit one control plot that acted as a strong outlier. Figure 8 shows warmed plots forming only a loose group in the mid-range of axis 2 and the middle and upper range on axis 1. Fertilized plots without warming occur very low on axis 2, but throughout axis 1. Control plots tend toward the upper portion of axis 2 but are diverse and do not form a coherent group. In contrast to the *nif*H profiles from 2002, the 2001 control plots are distinct from the soils that received fertilization without warming.



Figure 8: NMS plot of treatment and control plots in *nifH* genotype space. T-RFLP data collected in 2001.

No acceptable NMS solution was achieved for the ordination *nif*H genotypes from disturbed plots with those from OTC and fertilization plots making it difficult to assess the similarity of diazotroph communities from these treatments. However, Correspondence Analysis (CA) of the disturbance treatments alone revealed no clear grouping of *nif*H gene communities according to the level of disturbance they received (Figure 9). Furthermore CA ordination of *nif*H genotypes from disturbed plots with those from OTC and fertilization plots revealed no detectable patterns at all (data not shown).



Figure 9: Correspondence Analysis generated plot for disturbance experiment

δ^{15} N Analysis

 δ^{15} N analysis of foliage from *Salix* and *Dryas* plants in 2002 revealed a significant decline in delta ¹⁵N values with warming treatments (p=0.01), while fertilization treatments did not significantly alter the δ^{15} N values. Additionally, *Dryas integrifolia* was found to be more depleted in the heavier isotope than *Salix arctica*. Figure 10 shows δ^{15} N values for *S. arctica* and *D. integrifolia* from warmed and control plots. Good correlation was found between foliar %N and the δ^{15} N values of these species (adjusted r²=.60) (Figure 11).



Figure 10: Foliar delta ¹⁵N values for Dryas integrifolia and Salix arctica with OTC treatment



Figure 11: Linear relationship for foliar %N and delta ¹⁵N values in S. arctica and D. integrifolia

No differences were found among soil δ^{15} N values from all treatments. The mean δ^{15} N value for soils (+0.15) was close to the atmospheric value, and similar to that of the fertilizer applied (+0.40).

DISCUSSION

Methodological considerations

Elemental analysis of total nitrogen in control plots revealed no change in N concentrations of soils due to the fertilization treatments. Control plots had a nitrogen concentration of 178.3 ± 15.4 g m⁻². The amount of N added with the fertilization treatment was approximately 1.7 g m⁻² year⁻¹ (3.4 g m⁻² in two years) an order of magnitude less than the margin of error. Thus, we lacked the ability to detect changes in total soil N that were due to our fertilization treatments.

We were unable to detect changes in fixation rates due to treatments in the OTC experiment. In this experiment two treatments were applied; warming and fertilization. The lack of response of N-fixation to fertilization treatments may be explained by the lack of detectable change in soil N with nutrient amendment. Higher rates of fertilizer application may have been required to cause changes in N-fixation. Other studies have found that high rates of fertilization (particularly ammonium addition) suppresses N- fixation in the field (Krupka 1984, Okoronkwo and Van Hove 1987, Liengen 1999, Piceno and Lovell 2000), while lower rates of nutrient amendment tend to increase Nfixation in some systems (Bagwell and Lovell 2000, Piceno and Lovell 2000).

The lack of response to warming is of particular interest. Warming is generally expected to increase the rate N-fixation in the field due to the direct effect of temperature on microbial metabolism (Chapin et al. 1992a). However, some evidence exists to suggest that N-fixation by arctic diazotrophs may be subject to acclimation. For example, after soil cores from a *Salix*-moss-hummock community were incubated at 15°C for two weeks it was found that optimal rates of N-fixation occurred at this temperature (Chapin et al. 1991). Further, it was found that the temperature optimum for N-fixation in field-cores from Truelove Lowland approximated maximum surface temperatures measured in the study (Chapin et al. 1991). If a complete picture of diazotroph activity in response to warming is to be gained from field studies of N-fixation it may be necessary to consider the possibility of diazotroph acclimation.

In the present study, incubators were kept at a relatively constant temperature. In contrast, temperature data collected inside and outside Open Top Chambers for a two-week period prior to the 2002 sampling season revealed one maximum daily temperature of 20.5°C within an OTC while the corresponding control plot had a maximum temp of only 14.5°C (both measured 15cm above the surface). If it is true that arctic diazotrophs acclimate to the maximum daily temperature they are exposed to, we would expect diazotrophs from OTC treatments to have higher temperature optima for N-fixation than those from control

plots. Figure 11 is an idealized temperature response curve (based on data from Liengen 1999) for N-fixation by diazotrophs from warmed and control soils. From Figure 11 it becomes clear that the experimental conditions provided temperatures closer to the physiological optima of diazotrophs from control plots and we would expect higher fixation rates from those samples.



Figure 12: Idealized temperature response curves for arctic soil diazotrophs acclimated to maximum daily temperatures of 20°C and 24°C

Acetylene Reduction Assays

As described above, warming had the potential to increase fixation rates (through direct effects on diazotroph metabolism) or decrease fixation rates (through acclimation of nitrogenase activity to temperature). However, we were unable to detect changes in fixation rates due to any treatment in the OTC experiment. Fixation rates measured in this study and at many other arctic sites (Table 2) are low when compared to nitrogen fixation rates in temperate regions (Lennihan et al. 1994). Moreover, N-fixation rates were spatially variable. The spatial variability of arctic N-fixation has been noted by many authors (Alexander and Schell 1973, Karagatzides et al. 1985, Henry and Svoboda 1986, Chapin et al. 1991), and it has been suggested that N-fixation responds most strongly to factors that can vary on a microsite scale (Chapin et al. 1991, Liengen et al. 1999). It is possible that the range of microsites that occurred in control plots were inherently as variable as the changes that accrued due to the treatments applied.

Microsite differences that have influenced N- fixation in other studies and may apply to the present study include (1) microtopography, (2) moisture status, and (3) plant community composition. Henry and Svoboda (1988) reported higher rates of N-fixation in hollows than in hummocks, where cyanobacteria were more plentiful. They attributed this difference to shading of cyanobacteria by dead plant material on hummocks. In another study, nitrogen fixation was found to be greater in the depressed centers of polygons as compared to the raised rims (Alexander and Schell 1973). Here, the difference was attributed to a moisture limitation of fixation on drier polygon rims.

Additionally, moisture differences between raised or depressed microsites may control maximum daily temperatures locally. This may result in diazotrophs from driermicrosites that are acclimated to warmer temperatures than water-insulated, depressiondwelling diazotrophs. In a study of N-fixation across site types at Sarcpa Lake, highest rates were associated with plant communities with high densities of legumes (Karagatzides et al. 1985). Although no legumes are found at Alexandra Fiord , spatial heterogeneity in the distribution of lichens, *D. integrifolia* and *Nostoc* mats in the present study may have obscured any differences due to treatments.

Rates of acetylene reduction observed in the OTC experiment were similar to values reported for other non-brackish lowlands sites in the Canadian high-arctic (Table 3).

Location	Site type	Acetylene Reduced (μmol m ⁻² hr ⁻¹⁾	Year of study	Reference
Alexandra Fiord	Wet sedge meadow	2.65 (1.3)*	1988	Chapin et al. 1991
Alexandra Fiord	Wet sedge meadow	6.82 (1.2)	1983	Henry and Svoboda 1986
Sarcpa Lake	Rocky tundra	7.37 (2.2)	1982	Karagatzides et al. 1985
Alexandra Fiord	Mesic dwarf- shrub cushion- plant tundra	9.28 (1.4)*	2002	Present study
Truelove Lowland	Salix-moss hummocks	14.10 (1.8)*	1988	Chapin et al. 1991
Truelove Lowland	Herb-moss hummock	17.39 (6.8)*	1988	Chapin et al. 1991

Table 3: Acetylene reduction activity reported for non-brackish, low-land sites in the Canadian high-arctic

* These value have been corrected to 9.6°C (Q_{10} =5.6) to facilitate direct comparison with other studies

In the temporal fertilization experiment a very different trend was observed. During the first sampling period (1-7 days post-fertilization) fertilized plots had N-fixation rates near those of controls. By the second sampling period (19-35 days post-fertilization) the fixation rates in fertilized plots had more than tripled. This indicates that the fertilization treatments (1.7 g m⁻² N) did not provide sufficient nitrogen to suppress fixation at this site. In a *Spartina* salt marsh 16.3 g m⁻² additions of N (also as NH₄NO₃) were insufficient to suppress N-fixation across all treatment plots (Piceno and Lovell 2000). Although the amount of N required to suppress fixation may be specific to a site or even to a diazotroph community, it is likely that much greater additions of nitrogen were required to suppress fixation at Alexandra Fiord.

The significantly greater rates of N-fixation observed during the second sampling period suggests that fertilization treatments relieved some limitation to N-fixation in these plots. One possibility is that the nutrient amendments relieved P limitation of the diazotroph community. Phosphate has a diffusivity in soils that is an order of magnitude lower than ammonium and two orders of magnitude lower than nitrate (Paul and Clark 1996). Consequently, phosphorus is more strongly retained in soils than nitrogen (Chapin et al. 1995, Black 1968), and may have been available to soil microorganisms after the added N was assimilated into plant biomass. Phosphorus is thought to be a limiting nutrient for nitrogen fixation (Gorham et al. 1979) and phosphorus fertilization has been shown to cause significant increases in N-fixation in the field (Chapin et al. 1991, Liengen 1999). The retention of P by soils after the added N was removed may explain the higher rates of N-fixation in fertilized plots several weeks post-fertilization. A second possibility is that

nitrogen fixation rates increased in response to increased C-exudation from plant roots. When salt-marsh communities were fertilized with NH_4NO_3N -fixation rates increased significantly 2 and 8 weeks post-fertilization; this change was attributed to an increase in plant productivity and root exudation in response to fertilization (Piceno and Lovell 2000). It is also possible that the much greater rate of N-fixation observed in the temporal fertilization treatment plots came about through a combination of these two mechanisms.

T-RFLP analysis

Our inability to detect strong patterns in the *nif*H gene frequency data from disturbance plots assured us that *nif*H community structure was not altered in a predictable fashion by sampling during our study. Although altered carbon availability may (in theory) have the potential to induce structural change in the diazotroph community, and although plants damaged during sampling may have exuded labile carbon into surrounding soil, these do not appear to have been major factors that influenced *nif*H community structure. We suggest that changes in the structure of diazotroph populations were induced by the intended treatments and not by a sampling artifact.

The NMS ordinations of *nif*H genotype frequencies from treatment and control plots suggest that warming was an important determinant of diazotroph community structure (Figure 4). Similarly, compositional changes in microbial communities from a northern hardwood forest were reported after incubation at elevated temperatures (Zogg et al.

1997). In 2002, the study site had been snow-free for less than 2 weeks prior to the first sampling period. The similarity of *nif*H communities from warmed and control plots in the first sampling period (June 28-July 2) (Figure 6) suggest that an accumulation of thermal energy (estimated as degree days) leads to succession in the *nif*H community, resulting in detectable changes only later in the season. The intermediate influence of warming in 2001 (Figure 8) is consistent with 2002 results as 2001 samples were taken in mid-July between the first and second sampling periods in 2002.

Increased soil temperature may alter diazotroph community structure in several ways. Firstly, temperature may have a direct impact on *nif*H community structure by selecting for organisms with higher physiological temperature optima. Change in the lipid composition of cellular membranes is believed to be a major strategy for acclimation of soil microbes to different temperatures (Paul and Clarke 1996). For example, in cyanobateria in pure culture an increase of less than 4°C has been associated with a shift in membrane lipid composition from saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids to polyunsaturated fatty acids (Russell and Fukunaga 1990). The synthesis of cell membrane components is metabolically expensive, and synthesis of new membrane lipids may place sufficient stress on certain members of the diazotroph community in warmed soils to affect a change in community composition. A second mechanism by which temperature may alter the structure diazotroph communities is through increased mortality from grazing by soil fauna. In a study of a heath and a fellfield site in Swedish Lapland, warming caused an increase in the density of bacterial and fungal- feeding nematodes (Ruess et al. 1999). Increased grazing by soil fauna at higher temperatures may be

associated with a decline in free-living soil diazotrophs. Another repercussion of increased grazing is an accelerated rate of nutrient mineralization. In the same study, increased rates of nutrient mineralization were a noted effect of the high rates of grazing by nematodes (Ruess et al. 1999). Changes in rates of nutrient mineralization with soil warming have been observed in many studies (Chapin and Bloom 1976, Chapin et al. 1995, Hartley et al. 1999, Ruess et al. 1999, Schmidt et al. 2002). A second mechanism suggested for this change was that the fraction of the microbial population that is favored by higher temperatures may have the ability to metabolize a range of substrates unavailable to microbes at lower temperatures (Zogg et al. 1997).

Despite the significantly higher rates of N-fixation in the short-term fertilization plots in the second sampling period of 2002, fertilized *nif*H communities were not different from those from control plots (Figure 7). This finding is consistent with a fertilization study of salt marsh diazotrophs where the authors report detection of every genotype by reverse-sample genome probing in each sample, regardless of treatment (Bagwell and Lovell 2000). Similarly, short-term nutrient addition (N and P) caused no detectable change in *nif*H DGGE profiles of *Spartina alterniflora* rhizoplane diazotrophs, causing the authors to conclude that the diazotroph assemblage showed substantial short-term stability to environmental change (Piceno and Lovell 2000). However, longer-term fertilizations (treatments applied every 2 weeks for 8 weeks) did result in detectable differences in DGGE profiles in the same study (Piceno and Lovell 2000).

It has been hypothesized that the stability of the inorganic nitrogen concentration of soils is the primary determinant of *nif*H gene pool structure (Poly et al. 2001). Although diazotroph communities appear to be stable to short term changes in nutrient status (Bagwell and Lovell 2000, Piceno and Lovell 2000), longer-term nutrient increases appear to bring about compositional change. In the present study, the 5g m² year⁻¹ additions of 20N: $20P_2O_5$: $20K_2O$ fertilizer in 2000 and 2001 generally appear to have been within the range of nutrient levels for which diazotroph communities were adapted (exceptions will be discussed below). In contrast, OTC treatments resulted in notable community change. It is possible that while fertilization treatments were insufficient to induce compositional shifts in the diazotroph community, warming with OTCs resulted in prolonged alteration of the nutrient regime. This change appears to have been sufficient to lead to typical community structures in warmed soils at least late in the growing season (late July to early August).

Two details from the NMS ordinations of *nif*H gene fragments from plots that received various fertilization treatments deserve special consideration. Data from 2001 (Figure 8) shows that fertilized soils grouped low on Axis 2, closer to plots that had received OTC treatment than to controls. These plots also had significantly higher %N (p=0.006) and %C (p=0.016) than the fertilization treatment plots sampled in 2002. Similarly when the long and short-term fertilization treatment were compared (Figure 7), two of four long-term-fertilization plots (c16 and c5) were similar to control soils while two plots (c2 and c12) ranked very low on axis 2. These two sampling plots grouped more closely with soils that received OTC-treatment than with control soils when all sampling units were

combined (data not shown). These findings suggest that the fertilization treatments used were heterogeneous in their effects on diazotroph community structure and that a limited response to the fertilization treatments may have occurred in some plots. However, our data from 2002 suggest that if fertilization treatments did alter diazotroph community structure within the same year, this alteration was not sustained.

Higher rates of N-fixation were not associated with specific *nif*H community structures in this study (Figure 5). This suggests that the relationship between *nif*H genotype frequency and nitrogenase activity is not simple at this site. Community structure (as defined in this study) is a function of both the richness and abundance of *nif*H genotypes. The number of genotypes present in a given system (richness) is generally thought to be a function of environmental selection, however, in a recent cross-system comparison it was noted that the diversity of nitrogenase genes was not directly related to the degree of Nlimitation of the system (Zehr et al. 2003). This finding prompted the authors to suggest that physical and chemical factors, including the transport of cells between and among environments, are also important determinants of gene distributions in natural assemblages (Zehr et al. 2003). Once present in a soil, the abundance of a given genotype should reflect its ability to compete for limited resources in the ecosystem. However, because several diazotrophs are known to carry multiple copies of the nifH gene (Young 1992) it would perilous to suggest that the fitness of a given diazotroph in an environment could be directly implied by the presence or absence of a specific nifH genotype. If environmental conditions cause selection against a microorganism, we would expect that all of its nifH gene variants would decline at the same rate, but

problems can arise if diazotrophs with different physiological optima share some but not all copies of *nif*H genes. Nonetheless, the distribution of N-fixing organisms is nonrandom and can be predicted on the basis of habitat characteristics (Poly et al. 2001, Zehr et al. 2003).

Factors that control the presence of genotypes in soils (natural selection, movement of cells or DNA) may not be directly related to the expression of *nif*H genes where they occur. In this study, nitrogen fixation rates were spatially variable and may have been more strongly controlled by abiotic factors (moisture, temperature, microsite differences in C and N availability) than by the potential of the diazotroph community to express *nif*H genes. In a Spartina salt-marsh, acetylene reduction rates increased in N and N & P amended plots 2 weeks post fertilization although no corresponding change in *nif*H community DGGE profiles were observed (Piceno and Lovell 2000). It appears from this study and others (Chapin et al. 1991, Liengen et al. 1999), that factors that structure diazotroph communities may be different than the factors that control N-fixation. Further, it appears that these operate on different timescales, allowing any given diazotrophic community to acclimate to short term environmental perturbation within a limited range.

Elemental analysis of plants and soils

Although we did not have the power necessary to detect changes in soil N due to the fertilization treatments applied in this study it is quite possible that none occurred. There

is increasing evidence to suggest that arctic vegetation competes well with soil microbes for added nutrients (Chapin et al. 1995, Schmidt et al. 2002). In this study, some evidence suggests that the nitrogen added in nutrient amendment plots was assimilated in plant biomass. Salix arctica from fertilized plots had slightly higher nitrogen concentration than did plants from unfertilized plots. In another study (Chapin et al. 1995), tussock tundra vegetation was found to readily accumulate added nitrogen. After 3 years of fertilization, at a rate six-times that used in this study, the total vegetation N-pool doubled, acquiring 62% of the added N. Moreover, the response of vegetation was specific to functional groups. N-accumulation was greatest in mosses and least pronounced in evergreen shrubs. Similarly, Henry et al. (1986) found that fertilization increased forb and graminoid growth much more than dwarf shrub growth across moisture regimes at Alexandra Fiord. Woody species such as S. arctica are known to have relatively slow rates of nutrient uptake (Chapin and Tyron 1982) when compared with mosses, forbs, and graminoids. It is possible that much of the 3.4 g m⁻² additions of N from fertilizer added over a two year period was stored in tissues of plants that were not sampled in this study.

The significantly higher C: N ratios of the treatment plots in the OTC experiment suggest that OTC and fertilization treatments caused a decline in soil organic matter quality. The mechanism for this decline is uncertain, but it likely reflects changes to one or more soil processes. In the warmed treatments, increased decomposition and subsequent N-mineralization may have led to increased N-cycling. This should result in the acquisition of more soil N by plants as the number of competitive interactions among plants and soil
microorganisms increases (Kaye and Hart 1997). Consequently, the remaining soil organic matter (alive and dead) would have higher C: N ratios. This hypothesis is consistent with the findings of other studies where tundra warming has led to increased N acquisition by plants (Chapin et al. 1995, Hartley et al. 1999). In the fertilization treatment without warming the explanation for the higher C: N ratios requires an additional step. Assimilation of fertilizer into plant biomass and a subsequent increase in root exudation of labile C may stimulate a fraction of the microbial community unable to mobilize C bound in plant complex organic matter. These microbes (termed copiotrophs by Semonov et al. 1999) may be prone to rapid decline as root exudation slows (Semonov et al. 1999), and N-mineralized from their biomass may be acquired by plants. This could result in the lower soil C: N ratios observed in fertilization treatments. The finding that soil C: N ratios decline with fertilization treatment is consistent with results from Norwegian spruce forests. In one study, authors report that NH₄NO₃ fertilization caused a decline in microbial biomass N and lower microbial respiration rates (Smolander et al. 1994). Similarly in a second study, N-fertilization decreased the immobilization of N by microbes and increased N-mineralization rates (Priha and Smolander 1995).

The species bias for N-concentration of the two dwarf shrubs may reflect differing life history strategies. These two species may co-exist in this N-limited system in part because *D. integrifolia* can tolerate higher C: N ratios and access different N-pools (actinorhizal or mycorrhizal symbioses) to meet its N-requirements, while *S. arctica* is the better competitor for inorganic soil N. This is consistent with the observation that *S.*

arctica tended to have increased vegetative N-pools with fertilization while *D*. *integrifolia* did not.

The species specific response to warming also points to differing life-history strategies, but results contrast with expectations. Warming was expected to augment N-fixation and thus the N-concentration of *D. integrifolia*. The significant decrease in N-concentration with warming suggests a more complex response. One possibility is that warming accelerated N-mineralization in soils sufficiently to suppress N-fixation. However, this scenario is unlikely given propensity of arctic plants to accumulate available inorganic N. The lower foliar N-concentration of *D. integrifolia* with warming will be addressed in more detail below.

$\delta^{15}N$

The δ^{15} N value of soils measured in this study were similar to those found at other arctic sites (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996, Michelsen et al. 1998) and were unaffected by warming or fertilization. Given the similarity of the isotopic signatures of the fertilizer (+0.40) and the control soils (+0.15) it is not surprising that fertilization had no effect on the isotopic signature of the soils. The unchanged δ^{15} N signatures of warmed soils suggest that either processes that discriminate against the heavy isotope of N were unaffected by temperature, or that each altered process was changed by the same amount. Soil δ^{15} N values were higher than plants sampled in every treatment plot, and the range of soil δ^{15} N

values was smaller than the range of values observed in plants. These findings agree with those from other arctic sites (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996, Michelsen et al. 1998, Hobbie et al. 2000).

Plant δ^{15} N values from Alexandra Fiord were in good agreement with those reported for other arctic sites. *Salix arctica* from control plots was -3.0 ‰ which is the same value reported for this genus growing at Toolik Lake, Alaska (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996) and for *S. myrsinites* from heath tundra in northern Sweden (Michelsen et al. 1998), though slightly higher than the value for *S. arctica* from Greenland (-4 ‰) reported in the same study. *Dryas integrifolia* from control plots had a mean δ^{15} N value of -5.3 ‰ which is comparable to the -5 ‰ value reported by Michelsen et al. (1998) for the heath tundra in northern Sweden. It is noteworthy that in many study sites where *Dryas* sp. and *Salix* sp. occur together *Dryas* is more depleted in δ^{15} N (the present study, heath tundra in Greenland [Michelsen et al. 1998], heath tundra in north Sweden [Michelsen et al. 1998].

If δ^{15} N values of plants and soils are to provide insight to the nitrogen nutrition of plants at Alexandra Fiord, they must be taken in context with all other evidence. Important findings about the nitrogen nutrition of *Salix arctica* and *Dryas integrifolia* gathered in this study include; (1) in fertilization trials *S. arctica* accumulates foliar N, while *D. integrifolia* does not; (2) in OTC treatments *S. arctica* accumulates foliar N, while *D. integrifolia* does not; (3) *Salix arctica* has greater foliar N-concentration than *Dryas integrifolia* in all treatment and control plots; (4) *Salix arctica* has less negative foliar

 δ^{15} N values than *Dryas integrifolia* in all treatment and control plots; (5) a linear relationship between foliar N concentration and δ^{15} N values exists for both species. What insight can a synthesis of these observations provide? We will review key findings about δ^{15} N values and N status of arctic plants and soils and then put forth a hypothesis to explain these findings.

Processes in arctic plants and soils that can lead to discrimination against the heavier isotope of N include microbially-mediated N-transformations and partitioning of N pools among plants (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996). Fractionation during plant N acquisition is generally considered negligible in N-limited arctic systems (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994). Soil N-transformations may lead to differences in the δ^{15} N status of different N-pools. A strong discrimination during the reduction of nitrate to N₂ occurs, with products being -14% to -23% depleted over substrate NO₃ (Blackmer and Bremner 1977). Similarly, the fractionation that occurs during the oxidation of ammonium to nitrate (nitrification) can result in product δ^{15} N values being -8% depleted over reactants in field settings (Feigin et al. 1974). If anaerobic conditions result in high rates of denitrification in soils, NO_3^{-1} pools may be highly enriched in ¹⁵N. Conversely, if aerobic conditions dominate and nitrification occurs then nitrate pools will be depleted in ¹⁵N, while ammonium pools will be enriched. As soils are spatially heterogeneous environments, it is possible that all of these conditions are met at any point in time. Although the δ^{15} N values of ammonia and nitrate pools were not measured in this study, others have found that the two pools can have very different ¹⁵N signatures (Yoneyama 1996, Nadelhoffer et al. 1996).

It has been suggested that differences among plant species in δ^{15} N values reflect differences in the forms of N used (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996, Hogberg 1997). Further, forms of N used by plants may be a result of rooting-depth, or mycorrhizal type (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996, Michelsen et al. 1998). In arctic soils, δ^{15} N values generally increase with depth, and this has been related to N-pool partitioning among plant functional groups (Nadelhoffer et al. 1996). In the present study, both species have similar rooting depths and thus rooting depth cannot explain the significant difference in ¹⁵N concentrations of the two species.

In studies of δ^{15} N values of vascular plants from arctic sites ¹⁵N abundance was found to be closely associated with the presence and type of mycorrhizae (Michelsen et al. 1998, 1996, Hobbie et al. 2000). A general pattern emerges in the δ^{15} N data whereby values are greatest (positive or near zero) in non-mycorrhizal and arbuscular mycorrhizal plants, lower (negative) in ectomycorrhizal plants and lowest (most negative) in plants with ericoid mycorrhizae (Michelsen et al. 1998, 1996, Hobbie et al. 2000). A strong discrimination against the heavier N isotope is believed to occur on transfer of N from the fungus to the host plant leaving the plant depleted in ¹⁵N while the fungus is enriched. Field evidence in support of this concept comes from a heath tundra in Greenland where common sporocarps of fungi known to form mycorrhizal associations were collected (Michelsen et al. 1998). All sporocarps sampled had positive δ^{15} N values, while mycorrhizal plants in the study site where depleted in δ^{15} N values that ranged from +2‰ to +4‰ (Michelsen et al. 1998).

Another trend that has been made apparent through investigations of δ^{15} N values of plants across multiple study sites is that foliar N-concentration is closely correlated to the δ^{15} N value. The mechanism that has been put forth is that as soil N availability declines, foliar N declines, and dependence on mycorrhizae increases. This causes a filtering of N through the fungus which results in fungal ¹⁵N enrichment and foliar ¹⁵N depletion (Hobbie et al. 2000). Thus, foliar %N and δ^{15} N values may be predictive of the mycorrhizal status of plants across landscapes. Further, increased plant dependence on ectomycorrhizae or ericoid mycorrhizae in N-limited systems is supported by the observation that strongly N-limited systems have mycorrhizal plants with much lower δ^{15} N values (Michelsen et al. 1998, Hobbie et al. 2000).

Now that we have reviewed key findings from isotope studies of the N-nutrition of arctic plants, what insight can be gained to the N-dynamics of the two plant species studied under conditions of simulated climate change? As we shall see, three main concepts may explain all observations about N-nutrition in of *Salix arctica* and *Dryas integrifolia* made in this study, these are: (1) *S. arctica* is a better competitor for inorganic N than is *D. integrifolia*; (2) an external limitation to N-fixation triggers a transition from dependence on actinorhizae to ectomycorrhizae derived N in *D. integrifolia*; (3) warming results in increased N-limitation, and increased dependence on mycorrhizae in the woody shrubs studied, this may result in changing cost-benefit ratios for some mycorrhizal symbioses. Let us examine each of these in turn.

The five observations described above of the N-nutrition of the two plant species studied suggest that S. arctica is a better competitor for inorganic N than is D. integrifolia. In the fertilization trials *S. arctica* showed a trend (although not significant at alpha = 0.05) toward higher foliar N concentrations with fertilization, while D. integrifolia showed no such trend. Given the relatively small additions of N in the fertilization treatments and given the propensity of woody shrubs to be out competed for inorganic N by herbaceous plants, it is remarkable that such a trend could be detected at all. In a fertilization study of a similar ecosystem it was reported that deciduous shrubs (such as Salix sp.) were better competitors for applied nutrients than were evergreen shrubs (such as Dryas integrifolia) (Chapin et al. 1995). Warming is associated with increased rates of decomposition and subsequent nutrient mineralization. In OTC treatments S. arctica accumulated foliar N (p=0.02) while D. integrifolia did not, as suggested by the T-RFLP data for nifH communities from OTC treated soils, warming may result in more sustained alterations to N-cycling than do small and infrequent additions of fertilizer. As with the high rates of fertilizer applied in the study by Chapin et al. (1995) S. arctica may acquire more of the newly mineralized N than does D. integrifolia. In support of these suggestions are the observations that *D. integrifolia* appears to be more N-limited in this system than is *S.* arctica. Salix arctica had greater foliar N-concentration, and less negative foliar $\delta^{15}N$ values than Dryas integrifolia in all treatment and control plots, while both species displayed a linear relationship between foliar N concentration and δ^{15} N values. According to the hypothesis put forth by Hobbie et al. (2000) lower foliar Nconcentration and lower δ^{15} N values suggest D. *integrifolia* depends more heavily on N derived from its mycorrhizal symbionts than does S. arctica. Another interesting

observation comes from a survey of the mycorrhizal status of plants from the Alexandra Fiord site (Kohn and Stasovski 1990). In this study, both species were classified as ectomycorrhizal however, *S. arctica* was less so; with 84.6% (252 of 298) of root tips sampled showing fungal colonization, while 96.6% (311 of 322) of root tips sampled were colonized in *D. integrifolia*. The greater proportion of uncolonized roots in *S. arctica* suggests that this species may acquire some N through direct root uptake. The acquisition of soil N, which has a ¹⁵N:¹⁴N ratio near zero, may explain the more positive δ^{15} N values and greater foliar N concentration observed in this species. Conversely, the lower δ^{15} N values and lower foliar N concentration of *D. integrifolia* may reflect its almost complete dependence on fungal-derived N, suggesting that it is a relatively poor competitor for soil N acquired through direct root uptake.

The finding that *D. integrifolia* had lower δ^{15} N values than *S. arctica* was somewhat surprising in light of the knowledge that *Dryas* forms actinorhizal associations with the diazotroph *Frankia* and that we observed root nodules on *D. integrifolia* in the field. Despite reports that isotope discrimination during N₂ fixation (via nitrogenase) can be up to -6% (Robinson 2001), most values reported for actinorhizal plants in field settings are much closer to the atmospheric value (0%). For example, *Frankia* infected *Alnus glutinosa*, *A. incana*, and *A. cripa* have δ^{15} N values of -1.9%, -1.8%, and -1.5% respectively (Domenarch et al. 1989, Nadelhoffer et al. 1996) while *Shepherdia* had a δ^{15} N value of -0.3% (Hobbie et al. 2000). It follows that if *D. integrifolia* at this study site were heavily dependent on nitrogenase derived N, it would have δ^{15} N values closer to the atmospheric value. In a study of a successional sequence of a glacial retreat at Glacier

Bay, Alaska, D. integrifolia occurred in one site which represented the earliest seral stage (Hobbie et al. 2000, 1998). At this oligotrophic site, *D. integrifolia* had a mean δ^{15} N value of -1.14%, and a foliar N concentration of 1.88%. Both of these values are much higher than those reported in this and other studies (Michelsen et al. 1998, 1996), and were explained as dependence on nitrogenase-fixed-N. It is possible that these discrepancies reflect a changing life-history strategy for this long-lived species. In early seral-stages Dryas may perform a role similar to that of other pioneer plants with Nfixing endosymbionts, depending heavily on actinorhizae and enriching the system with N. As the ecosystem ages three factors may contribute to a transition to dependence on fungal derived N. First, soils may become increasing inoculated with mycorrhizal fungi leading to increased opportunity for colonization. Second, as arctic systems age they tend to accumulate organic N, access to this new N-pool is favored by symbiosis with mycorrhizal fungi. In later seral stages, Dryas integrifolia may compete with other woody dicots for access to a potentially large organic-N pool. Third, the accumulation of a thick organic layer as arctic soils age, may limit access of shallow-rooted woody shrubs to phosphorus pools (derived from the parent material) held in the mineral soils below. Phosphorus has been shown to be a major limiting nutrient to N-fixation (Chapin et al. 1991, Vitousek 1999, Liengen 1999) and P-limitation is hypothesized to limit N-fixation more severely in later seral stages (Walker and Syers 1976, Gorham et al. 1979, McGill and Cole 1981). It is possible that a declining productivity of actinorhizae as arctic soils age precipitates Dryas's transition from dependence on atmospheric N (N-fixation) to dependence on mycorrhizal N. It is also possible that a nutrient deficiency other than phosphorus limits N-fixation as arctic sites age. However, since carbon and nitrogen

cannot be limiting in actinorhizal symbioses by virtue of the physiologies of the partners, some external mechanism must act to limit N-fixation in later successional-stage tundra sites.

Warming caused a significant decline in the δ^{15} N content of both species studied. This change was associated with lower foliar-N concentration in *D. integrifolia*, and slightly (but not significantly) lower foliar N concentration in *S. arctica*. This evidence may suggest increased N-limitation of woody-dicots, and increased dependence on mycorrhizal-N, under conditions of warming. Several mechanisms may explain this observation, these include; (1) changes in mineralization rates, (2) changes in competitive interaction among plant species, (3) changes in the cost-benefit ratio for mycorrhizal symbioses.

It is well documented that warming arctic tundra soils results in increased rates of nutrient mineralization (Chapin and Bloom 1976, Chapin et al. 1995, Hartley et al. 1999, Ruess et al. 1999, Schmidt et al. 2002). Higher temperature is associated with increased microbial activity and with higher densities of fungal-feeding nematodes in arctic soils (Ruess et al. 1999). The fate of this newly mineralized N is of particular interest. In a 9-year study at Toolik Lake, Alaska, elevated temperature treatments resulted in an increase in exchangeable ammonium in soils, attributed to increased mineralization. Interestingly, the authors found no change in total nutrient pools of vegetation after 3 or 9 years. The increase in available nutrients was however, associated with species-specific changes in plant biomass that 'cancelled-out' at the ecosystem level resulting in no net change in

total plant biomass (Chapin et al. 1995). These findings imply that (1) increased N availability was allocated to growth (in some species) rather than altering foliar nutrient concentrations; (2) increased nutrient availability altered the competitive interactions among plant functional groups. Indeed, these findings prompted the authors to predict that increased nutrient availability resulting indirectly from warming should increase the abundance of deciduous shrubs relative to evergreen shrubs and non-vascular plants (Chapin et al. 1995).

The lower δ^{15} N values of *S. arctica* and *D. integrifolia* from warmed plots are consistent with our knowledge that woody shrubs are inferior competitors for newly mineralized N. Although N availability increases with temperature, increased plant growth outstrips N supply and woody shrubs are out-competed for soil N by more productive species such as herbaceous perennials. Warmer temperatures, however, place the same physiological demands (higher respiration rates, increased cell elongation, increased apical growth) on woody shrubs as other species. Thus, ectomycorrhizal shrubs may be required to meet their increased demand for N by becoming increasingly dependent on their mycobionts, which results in the more negative δ^{15} N values observed in *Dryas* and *Salix* in this study.

Mycorrhizae are symbiotic associations between fungi and plants that arise because of different physiological limitations of the partners. In many natural systems fungi are carbon-limited while plants are nutrient-limited. Mycorrhizal symbioses can range from mutualistic (the fitness of both partners is increased) to antagonistic (the fitness of one partner increases while the other decreases) (Egger and Hibbett in press) and most are

thought to exist in a continuum between these two endpoints (Bronstein 1994, Egger and Hibbett in press). Environmental perturbation may alter the balance in plant-fungi symbioses shifting the physiological optimum in favor of one partner at the expense of the other. If warmer conditions alter the cost-benefit ratio for plant-fugal symbiosis very little or not at all we would expect to find no difference in the foliar N concentration of plants from warmed and control plots, as is the case of *S. arctica*. If however, warming shifts the ecological optimum closer to the physiological optimum of the fungal symbionts, we might expect the fungi to be able to acquire the same amount of carbon from their host while providing less nitrogen to the plant. Thus, the combination of lower δ^{15} N and lower foliar N concentration in *D. integrifolia* with warming may suggest changes in the cost-benefit ratio for its mycorrhizal symbioses.

CONCLUSIONS

Climate warming will likely result in higher mineralization rates in mesic-tundra sites at Alexandra Fiord. These warmer soils, which will be relatively depleted in organic N, will support different diazotrophic communities than those present today. The question of how these communities will differ is still unclear. Standard diversity indices (Simpson, Shannon, Shannon-evenness) for *nif*H genes were generally unaffected by treatments with one exception, *nif*H gene richness was found to be more variable with OTC treatment. Diazotroph communities may acclimate to warmer temperatures resulting in no net change in nitrogen fixation rates due to warming, but the factors that control N-

fixation rates are likely to remain variable at the microsite scale. Possible secondary effects of warming such as increased moisture content of soils and increased labile-C exudation from plants may result in local increases of N-fixation in certain microsites. The *nif*H community structure data and the ARA data suggest that diazotroph communities are adaptable to a range of environmental perturbations and that field sites may already be inherently more variable than the changes due to the treatments applied. Given the enormous variation in the environments inhabited by diazotrophs today, it follows that the capacity to adapt to warmer climates is retained by these organisms.

An interesting finding, which requires further investigation, is that seasonal transitions in diazotroph community composition may be more pronounced in a warmer climate. The reasons for this are unknown, but may include a limitation of P mineralization by low soil organic matter quality earlier in the season (see Nadelhoffer et al. 1991) or earlier limitation by some other annually-finite nutrient supply. A second possibility, especially for rhizosphere diazotrophs, is that C-limitation accounts for this change. OTC treatments cause vascular plants to flower earlier in the growing season (Arft et al. 1999), and flowering places high demands on plant C-stores. There is evidence to suggest that plants reduce root C-exudation to the rhizosphere during times of the greatest plant need. For example, 42 day old wheat allocates 37% of its photosynthate below ground while 98 day old wheat, in the midst of producing grain, allocates only 9% (Whipps 1990). If anthesis corresponds annually to the onset of C-limitation for rhizosphere diazotrophs, a shift in community composition from copiotrophic to oligotrophic bacteria may ensue. It is

possible that the *nif*H communities typical of OTC treatments were composed of organisms well adapted to nutrient or carbon limitation.

Contrary to our expectations, symbiotic N-fixation did not relieve N-limitation in the actinorhizal species studied, and it appears that at later seral stage sites, this will not be the case as long as organic N stores are mineralized. *Dryas integrifolia* may utilize two distinct life history strategies depending on the organic matter content of the soil. In oligotrophic sites *D. integrifolia* is heavily dependent on symbiotic N-fixation, causing the accumulation of nitrogen at the site, in more eutrophic sites *D. integrifolia* reduces its dependence on its N-fixing endosymbionts and relies heavily on the cycled organic N-pool. Warmer temperatures will likely amplify competitive interaction among plant functional groups, and less successful species will derive a higher proportion of their N-requirements from mycorrhizae if possible. This may be associated with changing costbenefit ratios for some mycorrhizal symbioses. It also appears that the relative importance of diazotrophs to the N-nutrition of evergreen dwarf shrubs declines with warming. The underlying mechanism for this requires further study but it must be due to an external limitation on N-fixation in arctic actinorhizal systems.

LITERATURE CITED

Alexander, V. and D. M. Schell 1973. Seasonal and spatial variation of nitrogen fixation in the Barrow, Alaska tundra. Arctic and Alpine Research 5:77-88.

Arft, A.M., M.D. Walker, J. Gurevitch, J.M. Alatalo, M.S. Bret-Harte, M.Dale, M. Diemer, F. Gugerli, G.H.R. Henry, M.H. Jones, R.D. Hollister, I.S. Jonsdottir, K. Laine, E. Levesque, G.M. Marion, U.Molau, P. Molgaard, U. Nordenhall, V, Raszhivin, C.H. Robinson, G. Starr, A. Stenstrom, O. Totland, P.L. Turner, L.J. Walker, P.J Webber, J.M. Welker and P.A.Wookey 1999. Responses of tundra plants to experimental warming: meta-analysis of the international tundra experiment. Ecological Monographs: 69(4) p. 491-511.

Bagwell, C. E. and C. R. Lovell 2000. Persistence of selected Spartina alterniflora rhizoplane diazotrophs exposed to natural and manipulated environmental variability. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 66 (11): 4625-4633.

Beals, E.W. 1984. Bray-Curtis ordination: an effective strategy for analysis of multivariate ecological data. Advances in Ecological Research 14:1-55.

Boer, G.J., N.A. McFarlane, J.P. Blanchet, M. Lazare 1990. Greenhouse gas-induced climatic change simulated with the CCC second-generation GCM. In "Application of the Canadian Climate Centre General Circulation Model Output for Regional Climate Impact Studies: Guidelines for users" Ed. S.J. Cohen, pp 2-5. Atmospheric Environment Service, Canadian Climate Centre, Downsview, Ontario.

Black, C.A. 1968. Soil-plant relationships. John Wiley, New York, New York, U.S.A

Blackmer, A. M. and J. M. Bremner 1977. Nitrogen isotope discrimination in denitrification of nitrate in soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 9: 73.

Bronstein, J. L. 1994. Conditional outcomes in mutualistic interactions. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 9: 214-217.

Chapin, D.M., and C.S. Bledsoe 1992a. Nitrogen fixation in arctic plant communities. *In*: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. (*Eds*: F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda), pp 301-319. Academic Press, San Diego.

Chapin, D.M., and C.S. Bledsoe 1992b. Arctic plant physiological ecology: A challenge for the future. *In*: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. (*Eds*: F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda), pp 3-8. Academic Press, San Diego.

Chapin, D.M., L.C. Bliss, and L.J. Bledsoe 1991. Environmental regulation of nitrogen fixation in a high arctic lowland ecosystem. Canadian Journal of Botany 69: 2744-2755.

Chapin, F. S. III and A. Bloom 1976. Phosphate absorption: adaptation of tundra graminoids to a low temperature, low phosphorus environment. Oikos 26:111-121.

Chapin, F. S. III, G.R. Shaver, A.E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, J.A Laundre 1995. Responses of arctic tundra to experimental and observed changes in climate. Ecology: 76 (3), 694-711.

Chapin, F. S. III, P. M. Vitosek, and K. VanCleve 1986. The nature of nutrient limitation in plant communities. American Naturalist. 127:48-58.

Chapin, F. S. III and P. R. Tyron 1982. Phosphate absorption and root respiration of different plant growth forms from northern Alaska. Holarctic Ecology 5: 164-171.

Crawford, N.M., M.L. Kahn, T. Leustek, and S.R. Long 2000. Nitrogen and Sulphur. *In:* Biochemistry and molecular biology of plants. Edited by B. Buchanan, W. Gruissem, and R. Jones. American Society of Plant Physiologists. pp. 786-796.

Domenarch, A. M., F. Kurdali, and R. Bardin 1989. Estimation of symbiotic dinitrogen fixation in alder forest by the method based on natural 15N abundance. Plant and Soil 118: 51.

Egger, K. N. and D. S. Hibbett 2004. The evolutionary implications of reciprocal exploitation in mycorrhizas. (in press)

Feigin, A., G. Shearer, D.H. Kohl, and B. Commoner 1974. The amount and nitrogen -15 content of nitrate in soil profiles from two central Illinios fields in a corn-soybean rotation. Soil Science Society of America Protocols 38: 465.

Gorham, E., P. M. Vitousek, and W.A. Reiners 1979. The regulation of chemical budgets over the course of terrestrial ecosystem succession. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 10: 53-84.

Hartley, A.E., N.C. Melillo, R. Crabtree, and F.P. Bowles 1999. Plant performance and soil nitrogen mineralization in response to simulated climate change in subarctic dwarf shrub heath- Oikos 86: 331-343.

Henry, G. H. R., B. Freedman, J. Svoboda 1986. Effects of fertilization on three tundra plant communities of a polar desert oasis. Canadian Journal of Botany. 64:2502-2507.

Henry, G. and J. Svoboda 1988. Diniotrogen fixation (Acetylene Reduction) in higharctic sedge meadows. Arctic and Alpine Research: 18, p.181-187.

Hobbie, E. A. 1998 Patterns in the N dynamics and N isotopes during primary succession in Glacier Bay, Alaska. Chemical Geology 152: 3-11.

Hobbie, E. A., S.A. Macko, M. Williams 2000. Correlations between foliar δ 15N and nitrogen concentrations may indicate plant-mycorrhizal interaction. Oecologia 122: 273-283.

Högberg, P. 1997. Tansley Review No. 95: ¹⁵N natural abundance in soil–plant systems. New Phytologist 137: 179-203.

Houghton J.T., L.G. Meira Filho, J. Bruce, H. Lee, B.A. Callander, E. Haites, K. Maskell 1995. Climate Change 1994: Radiative forcing of climate change and an evaluation of the IPCC IS92 Emission Scenarios. Reports of working Groups I and III of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.

Houghton J.T., L.G. Meira Filho, B.A. Callander, N. Harris, A. Kattenberg, K. Maskell 1996. Climate Change 1995: The Science of Climate Change. Contribution of the WG1 to the second assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge (UK): Cambridge University Press.

Jensen, B.B. and R. P. Cox 1983. Direct measurements of steady-state kinetics of cyanobacterial N2 uptake by membrance-leak mass spectrometry and comparisons between nitrogen-fixation and acetylene reduction. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 45: 1331-1337.

Karagatzides, J. D., M.C. Lewis, and H.M. Schulman 1985. Nitrogen fixation in the high arctic tundra at Sarcpa Lake, Northwest Teritories. Canadian Journal of Botany 63: 974-979.

Kaye, J. P. and S. C. Hart 1997. Competition for nitrogen between plants and soil microorganisms. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 12(4): 139-143.

Kohn L. M. and E. Stasovski 1990. The mycorrhizal status of plants at Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Canada, a high arctic site. Mycologia 82 (1): 23-35.

Krupka, H.M. 1984. Inhibition of N2 fixation by Anabaena cylindricamat low ammonium nitrogen concentrations. Polskie Archiwum Hydrobiologii: 31:21-26.

Kruskal, J.B. 1964. Nonmetric multidimensional scaling: a numerical method. Psychometrika 29: 115-129.

Liengen, T. 1999. Environmental factors influencing the nitrogen fixation activity of freeliving terrestrial cyanobacteria from a high arctic area, Spitsbergen. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 45: 573-581. Liengen, T. and R.A. Olsen 1997a. Seasonal and site-specific variations in nitrogen fixation in a high arctic area, Ny-Alesund, Spitsbergen. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 43: 759-769.

Liengen, T. and R.A. Olsen 1997b. Nitrogen fixation by free-living cyanobacteria from different coastal sites in a high-arctic tundra, Spitsbergen. Arctic and Alpine Research 29: 470-477.

Mather, P. M. 1976. Computational methods of multivariate analysis in physical geography. J. Wiley and Sons, London. 532pp.

McCune, B. 1994. Improving community analysis with the Beals smoothing function. Ecoscience 1: 82-86.

McCune, B. and J.B. Grace 2002. Analysis of Ecological Communities. MjM Software, Gleneden Beach, Oregon, USA.

McCune, B. and M. J. Mefford 1999. PC-ORD Multivariate analysis of ecological data. Version 4.0. MjM Software, Gleneden Beach, Oregon, USA.

McGill W.B. and C.V. Cole 1981. Comparative aspects of cycling of organic C, N, S, and P through soil organic matter. Geoderma 26: 267-286.

Michelsen, A., I. K. Schmidt, S. Jonasson, C. Quarmby, D. Sleep 1996. Leaf ¹⁵N abundance of subarctic plants provides field evidence that ericoid, ectomycorrhizal and non- and arbuscular mycorrhizal species access different sources of soil nitrogen. Oecologia 105: 53-63.

Michelsen, A., C. Quarmby, D. Sleep, S. Jonasson 1998. Vascular plant ¹⁵N natural abundance in heath and forest tundra ecosystems is closely correlated with the presence and type of mycorrhizal fungi in roots. Oecologia 115: 406-418.

Muc, M., J. Svoboda, B. Freedman 1994. Soils of an extensively vegetated polar desert oasis, Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island. pp: 41-50. In: Ecology of a Polar Oasis, Alexandra Fiord, Ellesmere Island, Canada. Eds: Svoboda, Freedman. Captus University Publications, Toronto.

Nadelhoffer, K. J. and B. Fry 1994. Nitrogen isotope studies in forest ecosystems. *In*: Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science, *Eds*: Lajtha and Michener. pp 22-44. Blackwell Scientific Publications, London.

Nadelhoffer, K. J., A. E. Giblin, G. R. Shaver, and J. A. Laundre 1991. Effects of temperature and substrate quality on element mineralization in six arctic soils. Ecology 72(1): 242-253.

Nadelhoffer, K. J., A. E. Giblin, G. R. Shaver, A. E. Linkins 1992. Microbial processes and plant nutrient availability in arctic soils. *In*: Arctic ecosystems in a changing climate: An ecophysiological perspective. *Eds:* F.S. Chapin III, R.L. Jefferies, J.F. Reynolds, G.R. Shaver, and J. Svoboda. pp. 281-300. Academic Press, San Diego.

Nadelhoffer, K. J., G. R. Shaver, B. Fry, A. Giblin, L. Johnson, R. McKane 1996. ¹⁵N natural abundances and N use by tundra plants. Oecologia 107: 386-394.

Okoronkwo, N. and C. Van Hove 1987. Dynamics of Azolla-Anabaena nitrogenase activity in the presence and absence of combined nitrogen. Microbios 49: 39-45.

Paul E.A. and F.E. Clark 1996. Soil Microbiology and Biochemistry. Academic Press, Toronto.

Piceno, Y. M. and C. R. Lovell 2000. Stability of bacterial communities: I. Nutrient addition effects on rhizosphere diazotroph assemblage composition. Microbial Ecology 39: 32-40.

Poly F, L. Ranjard, S. Nazaret, F. Gourbiere, L. Monrozier 2001. Comparison of *nif*H gene pools in soils and soil microenvironments with contrasting properties. Applied and Environmental Microbiology: 67 (5), p. 2255-62.

Priha, O. and A. Smolander 1995. Nitrification, denitrification and microbial biomass N in soil from two N-fertilized and limed Norway spruce forests. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 27(3): 305-310.

Robinson, D. 2001. δ^{15} N as an integrator of the nitrogen cycle. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 16(3): 153-162.

Ruess, L., A. Michelsen, I. K. Schmidt, S. Jonasson 1999. Simulated climate change affecting microorganisms, nematode density and biodiversity in subarctic soils. Plant and Soil 242(1): 63-73.

Russell, N. J. and N. Fukunaga 1990. A comparison of thermal adaptation of membrane lipids in psychrophilic and thermophilic bacteria. Federation of European Microbiology Societies Microbiology Reviews 75: 171-182.

Schmidt, I. K., S. Jonasson, G. R. Shaver, A. Michelsen, A. Nordin 2002. Mineralization and distribution of nutrients in plants and microbes in four arctic ecosystems: responses to warming: Plant and Soil 242 (1): 93- 106.

Semenov A. M., A. H. C. van Bruggen, V.V. Zelenev 1999. Moving waves of bacterial populations and total organic carbon along roots of wheat. Microbial Ecology 37: 116-128.

Shaver, G.R., W.D. Billings, F. S. Chapin III, A. E. Giblin, K.J. Nadelhoffer, W.C. Oechel and E. B. Rastetter 1992. Global change and the carbon balance of arctic ecosystems. Bioscience 42 (6): 433-41.

Shaver, G. and Chapin, F. III 1980. Response to fertilization by various growth forms in an Alaskan tundra: nutrient accumulation and growth. Ecology 61, p. 662-75.

Shaver, G. and Chapin, F. III 1986. Effect of fertilizer on production and biomass of tussock tundra, Alaska U.S.A. Arctic and Alpine Research 18, p. 261-68.

Smolander, A., A. Kurka, V. Kitunen, and E. Malkonen 1994. Microbial biomass C and N, and respiratory activity in soil of repeatedly limed and N-and P-fertilized Norway spruce stands. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 26(8): 957-962.

StatSoft, Inc. (2002). STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 6. <u>www.statsoft.com</u>.

Stutz, R.C. and L.C. Bliss 1975. Nitrogen fixation in the soils of Truelove Lowland, Devon Island, Northwest Territories. Canadian Journal of Botany 53: 1387-1389.

Ulrich, A. and P. L. Gesper 1978. Plant nutrient limitations of tundra plant growth. In Vegetation and Production Ecology of an Alaskan Arctic Tundra. Ed: L.L. Tiezen. pp. 457-481. Springer-Verlag, New York.

Vitousek, P.M. 1999. Nutrient limitation to nitrogen fixation in young volcanic sites. Ecosystems 2: 505-510.

Walker, T.W. and J. L. Syers 1976. The fate of phosphorus during pedogenesis. Geoderma 15: 1-19.

Warrick,R.A. H.H. Shugart, M. Antonovsky, J.R. Tarrant and C.J. Tucker 1986. The effects of increased CO2 and climatic change on terrestrial ecosystems. In "The Greenhouse Effect, Climatic Change and Ecosystems" Eds: B.Bolin, B. Doos, J. Jager, and R.A. Warrick, pp 363-392. Chichester.

Widmer, F., B.T. Shaffer, L.A. Porteous, and R.J Seidler 1999. Analysis of *nif*H gene pool complexity in soil and litter at a Douglas Fir forest sire in the Oregon Cascade mountain range. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 65 (2): 377-80.

Whipps, J. M. 1990. Carbon Economy. In: The Rhizosphere (Ed. J. M. Lynch ed.) pp59-75. Wiley, Chichester.

Yoneyama, T. 1996. Characterization of natural 15N abundance in soils. In: Mass Spectrometry of Soils (Eds: T. W. Boutton, S. I. Yamasaki). Marcel Dekker, New York.

Young, J. 1992. Phylogenetic Classification of Nitrogen-Fixing Organisms. *In*: Biological Nitrogen Fixation (*Eds.* Stacey, Burris, Evans), p.43-87. Chapman & Hall, New York.

Zehr, J.P., B.D. Jenkins, S.M. Short, and G.F. Steward 2003. Nitrogenase gene diversity and microbial community structure: a cross-system comparison. Environmental Microbiology 5(7): 539-554.

Zogg, G.P., D.R. Zak, D.B. Ringelberg, N.W. MacDonald, K.S. Pregitzer, and D.C. White 1997. Compositional and functional shifts in microbial communities due to soil warming. Soil Science Society of America Journal 61: 475-481.